Associations between Primary Health Care- and Hospital Utilization among Elderly People in Norway

A dissertation for the degree of Philosophiae doctor

Trygve Sigvart Deraas

University of Tromsø Faculty of Health Sciences Department of Community Medicine 2013

Acknowledgements

This study was carried out between 2006 and 2013 at the Department of community medicine, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Tromsø and at the Center of Clinical Documentation and Evaluation (SKDE). The work was funded by the Regional Health Authority of Northern Norway, National Centre for Rural medicine, the research umbrella FORSAH (Forskning på samhandling i helsetjenesten). The last period as research fellow I have been working at SKDE.

Many people have been important for me to realize and complete this thesis. First; my three supervisors: Toralf Hasvold, you were my first inspirator and mentor. Our initial goal was to create a regional database to describe the activity in and content of general practice. For many reasons we did not succeed, but as co-advisor you have been a valuable discussion partner. We share both experiences and perspectives from the general practice (GP) standpoint, and you have contributed with highly relevant input to the present project. Gro Berntsen, my main supervisor, thank you for never giving up the ambition of teaching me research and finishing this project. I have learned a lot from your skills and perspectives. We started out as optimists in register data research, and met several obstacles well recognized by more experienced researchers. We learned that the right question would be "What is wrong with the data?" indicating that systematic doubt and focus on detail is a source of knowledge. In periods with frustration, your enthusiasm and sense of humour have been important; what a difference a good laugh can make!

Olav Helge Førde, my second co-advisor and also part-time colleague at SKDE: Thank you for your supportive corrections and critics! I am impressed of your insights and clear thought.

Trine Magnus, as the leader of SKDE in the later period of this project, you gave me the opportunity to finish this thesis, and I am deeply grateful for your patience. Erik Sund, thank you for daily inspiring conversations, friendship and fun while we shared office at SKDE. The methodical discussions lead us to collaborate on paper 3. I have learned a lot- and have still a lot to learn- in the field of multilevel analyses and social epidemiology. Thank you for introducing me to Andy Jones from University of Norwich, who became a valuable co- author on our paper. I hope we can collaborate further in the future. I am also grateful to my

colleagues at SKDE for discussions and fun over the last years. Without our company, finishing this thesis would have been even more demanding!

Most of these years I have been doing research, I also have worked part time as GP. I am deeply indebted to colleagues and friends at "Nordbyen legesenter" for your willingness to let me finish the thesis. I recognize the burden I have put on your daily work through these years. Special thanks to Unni Ringberg, who also contributed to one of my articles and to Lise Zimowski Johansen for taking care of many of my list patients during the last years. Special thanks to Tom Wilsgaard at Department of community medicine for valuable statistical advice in the beginning t of this project. I also learned to know Nils Fleten, Georg Høyer and Ragnar Hotvedt as good colleagues.

At the General practice section I had inspiring discussions during several phases of the project. Thank you to Hasse Mellbye at the General Practice Research Unit and Svein Steinert Per Baadnes, Peder Halvorsen and Ivar Aaraas at the National Centre of Rural Medicine for their support, travel companions and help during these years.

Finally and most of all, I want to thank my love and life companion Sameline for your faith in me and this project. Your support has been essential. Also many thanks to Jakob, Regine and Johannes for your patience and encouraging support! Our family life has been the best contrast to up and downs in this project- which took too much time.

Contents

Sı	ımmar	у	9		
Li	st of p	apers			
Li	st of al	breviations			
1	Intr	oduction			
	1.1	Specialist health-care practice and supply, and geographical factors			
	1.2 Organization and practice of municipality primary health				
	1.3 Composition of the population				
	1.4	.4 Morbidity			
	1.5	Socioeconomic factors	17		
2	Ain	s of the study			
3	Mat	erial and methods			
	3.1	Material	21		
	3.1.	Variables common to papers 1–3	21		
	3.1.	2 Population weighting and creation of percentiles	22		
	3.1.	3 Correlation	23		
	3.2	2 Confounding			
	3.3 Paper 1		25		
	3.3.	Study population	25		
	3.3.	2 Outcome variable: Rate of hospital days	25		
	3.3.	3 Definition of the main explanatory variable, long-term care			
	3.3.4	4 Statistical methods	27		
	3.4	Paper 2	27		
	3.4.	I Study population	27		
	3.4.	2 Outcome variable	27		
	3.4.	3 Main explanatory variable	27		
	3.4.4	4 Statistical methods			
	3.5	Paper 3			
	3.5.	I Study population			
	3.5.	2 Definition of the outcome variable			
	3.5.	3 Main explanatory variables			
	3.5.4	4 Other variables			
	3.5.	5 Statistical methods	29		

4	Main results and conclusions				
	4.1	Paper 1			
	4.2	Paper 2			
	4.3	Paper 3			
5	Ger	neral discussion – methodology			
	5.1	Internal validity	31		
	5.1.	1 Selection bias and study design	31		
	5.1.	2 Information bias	31		
	5.1.	3 Confounding			
	5.1.	4 Effect modification			
	5.1.	5 Analytical models			
	5.1.	6 External validity			
6	Ger	General discussion – results			
	6.1	Primary Health Care			
	6.2	Practice and/or geographical variation			
	6.3	Travel time to hospital	40		
	6.4	Composite variable "Municipality population size and Hospital status"	41		
	6.5	Age and mortality	41		
	6.6	Socioeconomic status	42		
7	Fut	ure perspectives			
8	Sug	gestions for further research			
	8.1	GP data	46		
	8.2	Patient trajectories	47		
	8.3	Coordination and cooperation	47		
9	9 Conclusions of the thesis				
R	References				

Summary

Background: Geographical variations in health-care utilization in many countries have been an area of debate. Health-care supply factors, population and/or environmental need factors might explain the so-called small-area variations (SAVs). Demographic forecasts indicated a significant increase in the elderly population over the next few decades, with a resulting increased need for health services. The Norwegian Coordination reform and health policies in many western countries suggested that a strengthening of primary health care (PHC) could improve the sustainability of health-care budgets and decrease pressure on hospital services. Studies were however inconsistent in their conclusions regarding whether a higher PHCutilization can reduce hospital utilization.

Aims and study designs: In three papers we have aimed to explore the association between PHC-utilization and utilization of specialized health care (SHC) among elderly people in Norway. In papers 1 and 2 we used a linear multiple regression model, whereas in paper 3 we used a multilevel model. We adjusted for variables known to influence health-care use. **Results:** We found no or a weak positive association between PHC and SHC use in all three papers. Age, sex, mortality, and a composite of hospital status and municipality population size were identified as effect modifiers, whereas travel time to a local hospital was an important confounder. Socioeconomic variables had little influence on the associations studied. In the multilevel study we found that higher municipality LTC volume was associated with less unplanned medical admissions among the oldest, whereas we found a modest geographical variability in risk for unplanned medical admissions at both the municipality level and the local hospital area level.

Conclusions: In a universal health-care system with well-functioning PHC it was not obvious that increased PHC utilisation alone will reduce the pressure on hospital services.

9

List of papers

- Trygve S Deraas, Gro R Berntsen, Toralf Hasvold and Olav H Førde. 2011. Does long-term care use within primary health care reduce hospital use among older people in Norway? A national five-year population-based observational study. *BMC Health Services Research* 11:287 doi:10.1186/ 1472-6963-11-287
- Trygve S Deraas, Gro R Berntsen, Toralf Hasvold, Unni Ringberg, Olav Helge Førde 2013. Is a high level of general practitioner consultations associated with low outpatients specialist clinic use? A cross-sectional study. *BMJ Open* 3:e002041.
- Trygve S Deraas, Gro R Berntsen, Andy Jones, Erik Sund et al. Associations between primary health care and unplanned medical admissions in Norway. A multilevel analysis of the total population above 64 years of age [Submitted Health & Place; under review].

List of abbreviations

ACSC	ambulatory care sensitive conditions
ADL	activities of daily life
CR	Coordination reform
DRG	diagnosis-related group
EH	emergency hospitalization
EPR	electronic patient record
GP	general practitioner
HDs	hospital days
HRQoL	health-related quality of life
HRR	hospital referral region
HSA	hospital service area
HT	hospital trust
KP	Kaiser Permanente
LOS	length of stay
LTC	long-term care
NPR	Norwegian Patient Registry
NSDM	National Centre of Rural medicine
OECD	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development
OPC	outpatient clinic
PCC	Pearson's correlation coefficient
РСР	primary care physician
PCP ratio	number of primary care physicians compared with number of specialist
	health-care physicians
РНС	primary health care
RHA	regional health authority
SAV	small-area variations in health care utilization
SES	socioeconomic status
SHC	specialized health care
UMA	unplanned medical admission
UA	unplanned admission

1 Introduction

A report from the regional health authority of northern Norway demonstrated, in 2005, a threefold rate difference in municipality utilization of outpatient clinics (Hansen 2005). This demonstrated municipality variation could challenge the long-standing Norwegian goal of equity (Norwegian Ministry of Health 2003). The municipalities with the lowest outpatient clinic (OPC) utilization were consistent with those previously designated 'lighthouse municipalities' by the National Centre of Rural Medicine (NSDM), based loosely on their comprehensive and high-quality primary health care (Bliksvær and Olsen 2003). Did this indicate that local primary health care influenced the utilization of specialized health care (PHC) and specialized health care (SHC), and this was the start of this project.

A literature review demonstrated that so-called 'small-area variations' in health care utilization (SAV) had been an international focus for decades (Wennberg and Gittelsohn 1973;Health Services Research Group 1992;Rohrer 1993;). Although these were variations by type of illness and between countries, an almost equal SAV for the same disease had been demonstrated in such different countries as Norway, England and the USA (McPherson 1982).

John Wennberg and his colleagues at Dartmouth Medical School, Vermont, USA had documented variations in hospital utilization and spending for decades, which in some cases had contributed to a greater harmonization of practices or even led to system changes (Wennberg et al. 1977). The observed SAV might be random or systematic. As summarized by Folland, the systematic SAVs are probably influenced by complex and often interrelated variables such as those listed below (Folland 1990):

- 1. Specialist health-care practice and supply, and geographical factors
- 2. Primary health-care practices
- 3. Population characteristics
- 4. Morbidity
- 5. Socioeconomic factors.

In other words, did the variation stem from supply or need differences – or both? The supply variables in 1 and 2 in the list might be studied either at an individual level or as aggregated data. The data for need variables (3.–5. in the list above) were available for us at individual

patient level, practitioners' level or different aggregated levels inside the health-care system. The five items are described in more detail below.

1.1 Specialist health-care practice and supply, and geographical factors

Five decades ago Roemer's law stated that 'a built bed is a filled bed', indicating the tendency for higher availability of beds to lower the threshold for use (Shain and Roemer 1959). Generally speaking, if utilization of health services were linked to high capacity, this could lead to inappropriate health care for some patients. If, on the other hand, high utilization were due to higher morbidity in the population, the high capacity could be seen as an adaptation to need.

Wennberg and his colleagues argued early on that geographical variation in health-care utilization and spending mainly derived from different health-care service capacity and medical practice rather than from population need factors. On their way they defined three categories of health care as an analytic framework: effective care, preference-sensitive care and supply-sensitive care (Fisher 2000;Wennberg 2002;Fisher 2003). The largest variation in spending and utilization was found for discretionary conditions. This was conditions where evidence base was weak with little consensus on the preferred response. As capacity was often operationalized through measures such as bed supply, which according to Roemer's law also relates to utilization, a strong correlation could be expected.

Findings from the Veterans Administration (VA) hospital system, an American public hospital system, indicated, in line with the findings of Wennberg, that geographical variation between areas was largest for supply-sensitive care of 'discretionary' conditions (Ashton et al. 1999). In these discretionary cases it was argued that local practice style had a big influence on treatment, diagnostics and follow-up. However, it was unclear whether physicians or local hospitals practice differed more in these cases than overall. A Canadian study found that the proportion of hospitalized cases with discretionary conditions was higher for physicians who were most likely to refer. However, the difference between the physicians most likely and those least likely to admit patients to hospital was smaller with regard to discretionary conditions than it was for conditions overall. This could indicate that the decision whether to admit a patient was a complex process in which physician practice style was just one of several dimensions (Roos 1992). Other authors also questioned the basis for the idea that a high rate of 'discretionary hospitalizations' was the reason for their overall high admission rate (Green 1994;Restuccia et al. 1996;Porell 1999). An American (Goodman 1997) and a Canadian study (Veugelers 2003) showed that the short distance to urban centres with hospitals was linked to higher utilization of hospital services. A Norwegian report, from 2002, estimated an availability index for specialized health care services based on geography and capacity measure (travel time/distance and number of beds per 10,000 inhabitants in the municipalities). They found the lowest availability index in northern Norway, especially in Finnmark (Kopperud 2002). Furthermore, greater utilization was demonstrated in municipalities with private specialists and hospitals (Fylkesnes 1993a;Iversen and Kopperud 2005;Nerland and Hagen 2008), whereas large municipalities (>5000 inhabitants) with proximity to local hospitals or private specialists had higher use of outpatient health services in northern Norway (Hansen 2005). In the Norwegian studies, urbanized municipalities had the highest rates of multiple admissions, and increased travel time was associated with falling utilization (Nerland & Hagen 2008).

1.2 Organization and practice of municipality primary health

Important aspects of the international literature and organizational features of Norwegian health care and municipality PHC were described in the first two papers. Below I discuss some issues about the municipality PHC and its association with SHC.

A Danish study utilizing registry data without risk adjustment found no association between Danish municipalities' utilization rates of hospital stays and GP consultations, although there was a significant variation between the municipalities for both services (Thomsen and Barner-Rasmussen 1992). Inside countries with 'gate keeping', wide variations in referral rates were shown and different studies demonstrate the influence of patient, doctor and practice characteristics; in addition a large proportion of the variation remained unexplained (Wilkin and Smith 1987; Franks et al. 2000; Roos 1992;). In Norway, the gate-keeping GPs, in principle, were the main referrers to specialist services and should ideally ensure the quality of outpatient referrals and hospital admissions. However, gate keeping might conflict with GPs' role as an advocate for their patients (Carlsen 2006a). Most inhabitants met a GP annually, because 76% of the population had at least one GP consultation in 2006 (Norwegian Labour and Welfare Administration 2007). How the patient list system reform in 2001 influenced hospital utilization rates during the following years was unclear, because the public Norwegian hospital sector was restructured through a major reform a half years later. Whether or not the variation in referrals from GPs represents a quality problem is unclear. It could be expected that different knowledge, working style, experience and personality across

doctors could result in different referral rates for multifaceted problems in general practice, for which there is seldom *one best* solution (Davis et al. 2002;Mabeck and Kragstrup 1993;Wilkin & Smith 1987).

Before the GP-reform about 80 % of the patients reported that they had regular contact with the same GP over time (Hasvold and Johnsen 1996). A Norwegian study of effects of continuity showed that knowing the patient increased the chance of referring the patient (Hjortdahl and Borchgrevink 1991).

Most GPs were (and still are) self-employed with a mixed income from capitation (30%) and fee for service (Norwegian Research Council 2006). The introduction of capitation as a financial component when the patient list system was introduced lowered the fee-for-service payment, and was, as a theoretical model, expected to lower the threshold for referrals (Iversen and Luras 2000).

In Norway, the municipality LTC inpatient emergency capacity has been minimal, with exceptions for the municipalities with cottage hospital beds in Finnmark County (Aaraas 1998). Hence, although the gate-keeping GPs have free access to specialist health care, they have traditionally had few opportunities to refer to an emergency bed, or even a regular bed, in the LTC service.

Although some literature focused on the association between GPs and hospital utilization, there was less research on the association between the utilisation of LTC and the utilization of specialist health care. Unclear boundaries between the different levels of LTC, and lack of activity data from different levels of services, could explain some of this lack. A review of home and community services demonstrated a mixed effect on hospital use (Weissert et al. 1988).

The activity of Norwegian municipality PHC including LTC might relate to the municipality's economy, which is influenced by tax income, government remittances and income from local enterprises. Whether these economic issues influence the daily practice or give rise to different services for people in municipalities that were better off than those with a tighter economic situation was unclear and not an issue in these papers.

1.3 Composition of the population

Age is a marker for several biological, social and environmental factors influencing health (Bhopal 2008a). Health-care use varies with age and sex (Schulz 2005;Australian Institute of Health and Welfare 2008;Broemeling, 2008). Older people, especially during the last phase of

life, are major users of hospital services (Lagoe et al. 1999;Wanless 2006), and take up a significant part of the total health-care expenditures (Anderson and Hussey 2000). Although women are heavy users in their fertile period, men seem to make more use of SHC than women, who seem to make more use of PHC (Juel and Christensen 2007). In Norway, age has been the main criterion for the funding of specialist health services since the hospital reform, although this proportion has been reduced (Norwegian Ministry of Health 2003;Norwegian Ministry of Health and care services 2008). How variations in specialist utilization between municipalities have been influenced by different population ages and sex structures, and how age and sex eventually interacted with other explanatory variables affecting utilization, were unclear. An American study showed an interaction of age with socioeconomic status (Hofer et al. 1998).

Demographic forecasts indicated higher life expectancy and a higher proportion of elderly people in the coming decades, but whether this would result in higher health-care utilization was-and still is- unclear. The so-called 'school of red herring' argued for a 'compression of morbidity', expecting most life-years to be added free of morbidity and an almost negligible effect of increased life expectancy on future health-care expenditure (Dormont et al. 2006). Opposite to this, the 'extension of the morbidity' view proposed that increased life expectancy would lead to more years with illness and disability (Olshansky et al. 1991). Between these counter-hypotheses, the 'relative compression of morbidity' view promoted a relative growth in both the years without illness and the years with illness, where the distribution of illness years depended on type of morbidity (Bronnum-Hansen et al. 2006;Manton 1991). Whether or not preventive medicine focusing on lifestyle risk factors such as smoking, inactivity, being overweight and diabetes would succeed, and affect both fatal and non-fatal diseases and health-care use of elderly people, was unclear (Hubert et al. 2002;Olshansky et al. 2005).

1.4 Morbidity

How differences in morbidity and self-perceived health influence utilization of health care was controversial (see section 1.1). Although some authors argued that only a minor part of the SAVs could be explained by different needs (Wennberg 2002), others argued that large morbidity differences across geographical areas were the main explanation for SAVs (Shwartz 2005). Furthermore, regions or hospitals with a more advanced diagnostic armamentarium or more specialists may identify more disease compared with other areas with similar population morbidities. Different access to primary care, especially for chronically ill individuals, might also bias the prevalence estimates, which are often derived from SHC registries. It is challenging to obtain good measures of morbidity, and several indices have been developed to estimate the total individual or population disease burden, including comorbidity (Charlson 1987; Starfield 1991;Elixhauser 1998;).

In many epidemiological studies mortality has been used as a proxy for morbidity, and was judged to be a better indicator than socioeconomic status as a need measure (Mays 1987). In Norway, there are historical mortality data for the total population, whereas other morbidity measures are more fragmented. Self-rated health correlated with a whole range of more objective measures of health, such as mortality. One Norwegian panel study (n = 3449; mean age 46 years) demonstrated that poor or very poor health led to higher public SHC use, but not to higher private SHC use (Iversen and Kopperud 2002), in line with a Nordic study on SHC use in Norway and Finland (Suominen-Taipale et al. 2004).

A report from 2001 claimed that various disease burdens over many years in different parts of the country have led to different regional division of the health service, and hence different utilization (Huseby 1991). But, to attribute causation based on such a correlation is difficult and it could be argued that the opposite is just as likely, or that there is no association. Thus, it was not clear in the literature to what extent morbidity contributed directly to the different health-care utilization.

1.5 Socioeconomic factors

It was widely recognized that morbidity was associated with socioeconomic status (SES), and relative social inequalities in health have been reported higher in Norway than several other European countries, despite a Scandinavian welfare model (Krokstad et al. 2002;Mackenbach 1997). However, a comparative study from eight European countries, including Denmark and Finland, demonstrated different associations between education level and morbidity for several common chronic disorders (Dalstra et al. 2005). How socioeconomic factors such as education, unemployment, income distribution and poverty ratio, influenced utilization of health-care services, given the same morbidity level, was unclear. Two US studies reported that aggregated SES did not explain the variations in hospital utilization in the USA (Fisher 2000;Wennberg 1977), while several other studies from the USA and Canada were inconclusive (Gittelsohn and Powe 1995;McMahon 1993;Veugelers 2003).

Education has often been used as a marker of socioeconomic status, and has been believed to have direct and indirect effects on individual health (Mæland et al. 2009). Education gives varying opportunities to select work and thus the level of income potential. It has been assumed that education makes it easier to understand information about health issues and hence improves health-related lifestyle habits (Elstad 2008).

Adjustment for socioeconomic status by education has several advantages: First; public statistics include most people, also elderly and unemployed. Second; education can be seen as less influenced of health conditions in later life preventing reverse causal explanation (that poor health might lead to low education), although it might be influenced by poor health in adolescence and young adulthood, which in turn may be related to poor health in later years. Third; it is easy to categorize education into relatively few groups with clear boundaries between them. Fourth; education changes little over time for the population over 25 years-30 years who mostly have finished their education {Huisman, 2005 326 /id}. The latter might also be a disadvantage as it might not precisely capture the socioeconomic position among elderly individuals.

Approximately 84 000 Norwegians were job-seekers in 2006, and 30% of these were long-term unemployed (job seeker over 26 weeks) (Statistics Norway 2006). Unemployment has been regarded as a health risk and job- seekers probably have increased morbidity. A Canadian study showed that long-term unemployed had higher consumption of hospital services than the general population, even when they had no history of mental illness prior to unemployment (Kraut et al. 2000)

Income has been widely used as indicator of social class by influencing varying degrees of selfesteem and self-realization, opportunity to improve living conditions through food, place of residence and participation in activities. (Mæland, Elstad, Næss, Westin, & et al 2009). Income level might be influenced by poor health (reverse causal explanation). The European Union has defined a cut-off level for "risk of poverty" as below 60% of the median national income (Atkinson 2004). In Norway nearly 10 % of the working population had a disposable household income below 60% of the median national income in 2007 (Enes 2010). The municipality level of income below this threshold could be regarded as a measure of municipality level of deprivation.

The international literature has shown conflicting results with regard to whether the aggregated socioeconomic data for a given geographical area were representative of people who used hospital services from that area. One American and one Spanish study documented

18

that the area-based socioeconomic indicators corresponded well with the individually based indicators, and therefore were well suited for use in measurement of social inequality {Hofer, 1998 142 /id;Dominiquez-Berjon, 2004 319 /id}. However, three studies from the USA, Canada and Australia showed a more uncertain context, requesting moderation in the interpretation of the findings if aggregate figures were used (Demissie et al. 2000;Soobader et al. 2001;Walker and Becker 2005).

Higher physician utilization among the most affluent layer of the population has been shown in 21 OECD countries and one Australian study, in line with Hart's 'inverse care law', which states that 'the availability of good medical care tends to vary inversely with the need for it in the population served' (Hart 1971;Van Doorslaer et al. 2006;Walker et al. 2006). Although unskilled and lower blue collar workers had higher hospitalization rates decades ago (Nord 1988), access to public outpatient health services was later found to be reasonably evenly distributed, and independent of SES (Iversen and Kopperud 2005). Others demonstrated that fewer patients from lower socioeconomic classes were referred to SHC, indicating a social gradient in the referral process (Fylkesnes 1993).

One Canadian multilevel study found a higher referral rate to SHC for affluent individuals (Chan 2003). In one British study, patient sociodemographic factors explained up to 45% of the total variation in hospital emergency admissions, whereas general practice organizational characteristics explained only a tiny part (Reid et al. 1999). In another British study there was only a 1.2-fold variation between GP practices' admission rates after adjustment indicating that patients' SES was most important (Duffy et al. 2002).

2 Aims of the study

In this study we have focused the association between municipality PHC utilisation and SHC utilization. We considered adjusting for variables known to affect both types of health-care use, many of which were described in the introduction. Influenced by the demographic forecasts stating a substantial growth of the elderly in the coming decades, we were especially interested in the health care utilization of the elderly. Furthermore, we assumed that different elements of Norwegian PHC related differently to various elements of the SHC, depending on their respective roles in the overall provision of health care for the elderly.

The 'Coordination reform' (CR), presented in 2009, was a national political headline. To improve the sustainability of health care budgets and ease the pressure on the hospitals, it proposed increased PHC volume, improved cooperation and strengthening of chronic care (Norwegian Ministry of Health and Care services 2009). Although the assumptions and evidence underpinning the proposed actions were controversial, it contributed to our project becoming even more policy relevant, also our choice to focus the elderly.

In the three papers we studied the relationship between primary health-care and specialized health-care utilization among elderly people in Norway using three different observational approaches, with assessment of relevant interactions and adjustment of relevant confounders:

- 1. How long-term care use was associated with hospital use
- 2. The associations between general practice and outpatient clinic consultation rates
- 3. The association between two municipality constructs, LTC and GP utilization, and an individual's likelihood of being hospitalized as an unplanned medical admission.

3 Material and methods

3.1 Material

Data from the national data sources – Norwegian Patient Register (NPR) and Statistics Norway (SSB) – for all elderly Norwegians (aged ≥ 67 years in paper 1; ≥ 65 in papers 2 and 3). Data were grouped according to sex, individual age (paper 3), 5-year age groups, municipality of residence or municipality of GP practice. In all papers Norwegian municipalities made up the smallest geographical unit for several reasons:

- The municipality represented the formally, organizationally, socioeconomically, democratically and culturally linked smallest entity (although the population in the municipalities can obviously be divided into smaller units with special features)
- 2. The local authorities were well-defined population units that were well characterized in official statistics and self-organized the municipal primary care
- 3. PHC was a municipality responsibility in which differences at the local level provided important information to decision-makers.

In the final analyses municipalities were grouped by criteria such as travel time, population size and hospital status, partly to reduce the effect of small numbers and partly to achieve a manageable number of groups in analyses.

3.1.1 Variables common to papers 1-3

Most geographical, demographic and socioeconomic variables were common to all three papers, but some aspects about them have to be mentioned.

Hospital status; a municipality's hospital status was determined by whether it hosted the service of interest as defined by the outcome in the analysis in the single papers (see below). **Travel time to hospital;** was measured from the town hall of each municipality to the nearest hospital, with the service defined by the outcome variable. The geographical position coordinates for these localities were collected from cartographic databases manually, and thereafter Statistics Norway merged the information with detailed road data. Hence, travel by air was not included in 'travel time'. In paper 1 we used information about the structure of the hospitals in 2004, which was in the middle of the analytical period. We included hospitals that have at least surgical, medical and radiographic departments, corresponding to the possibility of inpatient stays, and hence hospital days (HDs), and the HD rate.

For paper 2 we used information on hospitals with at least medical and surgical outpatient services for the year 2008. We were aware that the health authority of south-east Norway had also restructured the geographical area of a few of their hospitals by July 2009, which had a minor impact on a few municipalities. We found it likely that these changes would have influenced the PHC referral practice gradually over the second half of 2009. However, we judged the influence on the analyses to be small and therefore did not change the travel time for these municipalities.

In paper 3 we defined the hospital municipalities with regard to the hospitals responsible for acute admissions to a medical department for each municipality in 2008. Based on local hospitals' statistics for unplanned medical admissions, we defined which hospital municipalities situated halfway between two hospitals 'belonged' in this context. **Municipal population size;** this was collected from the population database of Statistics Norway (Statistics Norway 2013b). For paper 1 this was the average population size by the end of each of the 5 years 2002–6. For papers 2 and 3 this was the population size at the end of

2009.

Municipality education level; when examining the educational data we obtained from Statistics Norway in the first phase of the project we found several interactions between educational level, age and place of residence when using three or four educational categories. According to official statistics 47.3 % aged 67 years and older in 2005 had Primary School (7year) as highest education and approximately 12 % had college or university education, mostly men (Jorgensen 2006). It has been shown that the largest mortality difference between four educational level in younger age groups was between the lowest and second lowest level of four education groups (Rognerud and Zahl 2006) . The most relevant contrast of educational level in this age span was thus considered to be between those with only primary school and those with higher educational level. In papers 1 & 2 education was available for each analytic unit (municipal 5-year age and sex groups). In Article 3, we treated education as a municipal characteristic; the mean proportion with only primary school in the municipal population aged 25 years or more, because the individual education level was unavailable.

3.1.2 Population weighting and creation of percentiles

We made an a priori assumption, based on earlier information, that both individual and system factors would influence the association between the main exposure and outcome variables. In papers 1 and 2 we constructed a pseudo-individual level by 5-year age and sex groups. A crude analysis, unweighted by the population in each row, would give all municipalities the same influence on the results. By weighting the analyses by population in each row every person counted equally in the analysis result, and rows representing few people counted less than rows representing many people. In papers 1 and 2 the main explanatory variables had a non-linear relationship with the outcome, hence they were ranked in percentiles and included in a factor analysis. The percentiles were created by weighting the population in each row, to ensure that the population was equal in each *n*-tile and that each person had the same weight in the analyses.

3.1.3 Correlation

Adjustment variables with too high correlation will cause the model to become too unstable. Thus, for variables which were highly correlated, we must either choose one of the two, or try to make new combined variables. When evaluating the correlations between the different explanatory variables in papers 1 and 2, we defined high correlation as Pearson's correlation coefficient (PCC) ≥ 0.7 . If a high correlation between the variables was revealed, the variables were merged into one combination variable to prevent instability in the model. The variables 'municipality population size' and 'hospital municipality' were highly correlated. In paper 1 PCC was 0.7 and we constructed the following combination variables:

		Municipality		
		Non-hospital	Hospital	
		Population (%)	Population (%)	
		(no. of municipalities)	(no. of municipalities)	
	0	3.5 (95)	0	
Municipality	2000	12.1 (141)	0 (1)*	
population size	5000	13 (81)	2 (9)	
group	10,000	12 (44)	4 (12)	
	20,000	11.1 (19)	10 (15)	
	50,000	3 (3)	29 (10)	

* Lærdal was defined as a hospital municipality and belonged to the yellow group in the analyses.

By combining population size and hospital in the municipality, we constructed three different categories: (1) small municipalities without a hospital (green; n = 317), (2) medium-to-large municipalities without a hospital (blue; n = 66); and (3) hospital municipalities (yellow; n = 47, including Lærdal). Travel time did not correlate with the variables population size and hospital in the municipality (0.43/0.47).

In paper 2 the PCC was 0.7 between the 'municipality population size' and 'hospital municipality' variables and were merged into a combined variable as in paper 1. When we tested the correlation between the combined variable and travel time, the correlation was 0, 66 (weighted for population), which allowed us to include both variables in the analyses. However, since the correlation is high, it is fair to note that we were not interested in these variables as independent predictors, only as adjustment variables for the main association. The high correlation between two adjustment variables did not influence our final judgement of the main association. In this paper we constructed five different categories of the combined variable; see paper 2 for categorization details.

In paper 3 using multilevel methodology we chose 'travel time' as the primary explanatory variable; thereafter we included 'hospital municipality' and 'population size'. The PCC was 0.5 between 'travel time' and 'hospital municipality', indicating moderate correlation. We tested and found a low correlation (<0.3) between GP- and LTC-rate.

3.2 Confounding

In epidemiological terms a confounder is a covariate/explanatory variable that can be associated with both the outcome and the main explanatory variable (Bhopal 2008b). The word originates from Latin, meaning 'mix together', and is seen as a factor that can confuse the result. The confounder might partially or fully influence the relationship. We examined several variables known to influence health and hence health-care utilization during the analyses. A common strategy to examine for confounding is to compare the estimate of the crude association with the association adjusted for the variable being focused on. If the difference between the unadjusted and adjusted analyses was higher than a preanalytic defined limit, the variable was included in the further analyses as a confounder. In papers 1 and 2, a confounder was defined when the change in the predicted least square means of the model with and without the confounding factor was >10% in two points (quartiles).

In paper 3, models were fitted in a sequential manner whereby potential confounders were initially adjusted for, before adding the exposures of interest, and their association with our outcome was tested both with and without adjustment for the confounders. Finally we examined cross-level interaction terms between age and the two primary predictors.

3.3 Paper 1

3.3.1 Study population

All Norwegians (59% women) aged >66 years (*n* = 605,676) (13.2% of total population) in 2002–6.

3.3.2 Outcome variable: Rate of hospital days

In paper 1 we expected that LTC mainly addressed needs arising from functional limitations due to ill health. Such help could be provided at both hospital and municipal levels. If LTC services were unavailable due to capacity issues, one would expect the same services to be delivered at a hospital level and prolong a hospital stay. If LTC service capacity was better, a LTC substitution for hospital would be possible, but could also induce in- and outpatient hospital utilization by identifying health needs at an early stage. LTC might substitute for hospital stays or at least HDs, especially for patients who have received the recommended inhospital treatment. Both the number of stays and the HDs might be appropriate measures for the relationship of interest. As the municipality mean of HDs is a product of the number of

days in one stay and the total stays, and one of the most costly measures of hospital utilization, we chose this as an outcome measure. The mean national distribution of rate of hospital days for the years 2002-2006 is depicted in figure 3.2.2 below.



Figure 3.2.2: Rate of hospital days by age and sex, Norwegian population (mean 2002-2006)

3.3.3 Definition of the main explanatory variable, long-term care

We argued that the total LTC volume, comprising both community care and institutional care as a 'package', was the best way to address LTC use, and is described in detail in the paper. We considered that institutional and community care were overlapping. The number of users was counted on a specific day every year, which could give raise to deviations from the average use throughout the year, which would be our ideal measure. However, we assumed that a 5-year mean would reduce such errors due to random variation.



Figure 3.2.3: Rate of users of long term care, Norwegian population (mean 2002-2006). Hence, the main explanatory variable, LTC rate, consisted of the number of recipients of municipal LTC (both at home and in institutions) per 1000 inhabitants in each unit of analysis. It included the total number of recipients of LTC counted on a specific day each year in the age groups 67–74, 75–79, 80–84, 85–89 and 90–105 years (source 2).

3.3.4 Statistical methods

The statistical methods were described in detail in the method section of the paper.

3.4 Paper 2

3.4.1 Study population

All Norwegians aged ≥ 65 years (n = 721,915; 56% women – 15% of the total population) in 2009.

3.4.2 **Outcome variable**

The primary care-specialist interface is a key organizational feature of many health-care systems. Patients are referred to specialist health care when investigation or therapeutic options in primary care are exhausted and more specialized investigations, diagnostic procedures or treatment is needed. The referrals to an OPC have considerable implications for patients, the health-care system and health-care costs. Hence, our outcome variable of interest was the total specialised care OPC consultations per 1000 inhabitants (OPC rate). About 2% of the total dataset from the NPR regarding OPC consultations among private specialists missed data about patients' sex. By using the same national sex distribution as in the rest of the data, we imputed the sex of the missing values.

3.4.3 Main explanatory variable

In a 'gate-keeping' system, the GPs' referrals to the outpatient clinics have a large impact on the entire hospital system. GPs refer to both out- and inpatient services, but to a much larger degree to out-patient services. The specialist out-patient examination may in turn result in a secondary hospital admission. Thus the gate-keeper role of GPs has mainly been exercised through the means of the out-patient referrals. Hence, in paper 2 we wanted to study the association between GP consultations and OPC consultations.

Our main predictor of interest was the complete general practitioner consultation activity inside municipality PHC. As this included both regular and emergency services, and also

home visits, the total number of municipality GP consultations per 1000 inhabitants (GP rate) included all GP consultations.

3.4.4 Statistical methods

The statistical methods used were described in detail in the method section of the paper.

3.5 Paper 3

3.5.1 Study population

All individuals aged ≥ 65 years in Norway (n = 722,464) in 2009.

3.5.2 **Definition of the outcome variable**

The Coordination reform focused a reduction of emergency hospitalizations, especially for medical conditions through a strengthening of PHC. Both the utilisation of the GP-services and volume of the LTC-services might prevent emergency admissions, and this is argued for in paper 3.

We decided to investigate the relationship between the emergency admissions and the volume of LTC, GP utilisation and total PHC volume. At the time that we initiated this part of the study, we had access to patient data at the individual level, which allowed us to utilize a multilevel framework.

The outcome variable, unplanned medical admission (UMA), was defined by a) the definition of "unplanned" by NPR, which was defined opposite to "planned", and b) medical by the opposite of surgical- hence her "non- surgical" = medical. We created UMAs at an individual level by linking the UMAs provided by the NPR, with census information for the entire Norwegian population aged ≥65 years (722,464 individuals). By implementing this procedure, our dataset consisted of 120,846 individuals which were hospitalized at least once in 2009, and for whom we had information about sex, age group and municipality of residence.

3.5.3 Main explanatory variables

When initiating the work we acknowledged that the GP-, LTC- and SHC utilization were all linked to one-another and that GP and LTC-service could be seen as one unit of first line entity. Hence, both the GP and the LTC capacity were important for emergency hospitalizations through different mechanisms. The total number of GP consultations/1000 inhabitants per year, including both daytime and out-of-hours service (GP rate), and the number of recipients of municipality LTC (both at home and in institutions) per 1000 inhabitants (LTC rate) were counted on a specific day each year. The PHC variables were introduced into the model separately and as an entity.

3.5.4 Other variables

At the municipality level (level 2) (n = 428) we utilised travel time in three categories and municipality hospital status (whether the municipality hosts a hospital). Furthermore mortality and municipality rate of disability pension were both utilized as proxies for morbidity. Educational level (percentage with only primary school as education among residents aged \geq 25 years), municipality level of unemployment and low income were utilised as proxies for municipality deprivation.

3.5.5 Statistical methods

The analyses in the cross-sectional study of paper 3 were done within a multilevel statistical framework.

Whether the variations in health-care utilization rates found in other aggregate studies were due to differences between individuals (case-mix) or the individuals' environment (system level) was unclear because the analyses do not separate variation between individual and system levels.

The multilevel model that we utilized made it possible to investigate the distribution of variation across the individual and system levels. It required data at the individual level. We created an outcome at the individual level, utilizing variables measured at individual, local and hospital levels. Individual level variables can explain variance at all levels, whereas variables at the system level (contextual variables) explain only the variance at its own level and that above. In general, this means that the variation is distributed between the levels in the analyses.

The PHC variables were introduced into the model separately and as an entity.

29

4 Main results and conclusions

We conducted three studies with different approaches to see how the utilisation of PHC was associated with utilization of SHC.

4.1 Paper 1

For all men and women aged <80 years we found an overall, weakly positive, statistically significant, but still not clinically important, relationship between rates of LTC and HDs. For women aged \geq 80 years the weakly negative association was neither statistically significant nor clinically important. Travel time to hospital was a stronger confounder than mortality in the final analyses.

4.2 Paper 2

Among elderly people aged ≥65 years we found a moderately positive association between GP consultation rates and rates of OPC use in Norway in 2009. There was an effect modification by age, mortality, and a composite of hospital status and municipality population size on the association between the GP-rate and the OPC-rate. When we adjusted for the two confounding variables – sex and travel time to hospital – the positive association remained except in the oldest age group with the highest mortality in medium-to-large municipalities. Socioeconomic variables did not influence the association and were not included in the final analysis.

4.3 Paper 3

In a mixed-model analysis we found no general association between the individual likelihood for a UMA and the municipality GP or LTC utilization rates. However, when including an interaction term between age and LTC rate, LTC seemed to be associated with fewer UMAs (non-surgical) among people aged ≥80 years. We found a modest geographical variability in UMAs at both the municipality level and the local hospital area level.

5 General discussion – methodology

To discuss the ability to generalize the results we need to discuss different aspects with regard to internal and external validity.

5.1 Internal validity

Internal validity concerns confounding and different types of bias. Bias could be conceptualized as an 'error that applies unequally to comparison groups' (Bhopal 2008). Hence, different types of bias must always be considered when study results have been validated for the population focused on.

5.1.1 Selection bias and study design

Selection bias is the term for errors or skewedness in the choice of population, and hence is essential for interpretation of the study results. All three studies in this thesis analysed associations between different aspects of the utilization of SHC and municipality PHC for the entire Norwegian population aged ≥ 65 years. In this aspect our studies were highly representative of our elderly population in Norway in the given time period. All studies were population-based observational studies. Although study 1 was for a 5-year period and could be seen as a population case-series study, papers 2 and 3 cover 1-year data and have a crosssectional design.

5.1.2 Information bias

Choice of outcome and explanatory variables

The data on GP consultations related to the consultations at the GP practice site municipality, which was not necessarily the same as the patients' residence municipality. In general, we would expect some people to have their GP in the municipality in which they were employed or were students, and this might differ from their registered home municipality. We assumed that this bias was less important among patients aged ≥ 65 , which we expected to have their GP in their home municipality because most of them no longer worked, and very few were students. However, some patients could conceivably keep their GP in their previous work community. With regard to acute admissions to OPC or inpatient activity (paper 3), we believed that most patients would be referred by a GP in their home municipality. Accidents

and acute cases while travelling or on holiday could happen randomly and therefore not give rise to any systematic misclassification.

Bias of population migration

According to Statistics Norway 1% of elderly people aged \geq 70 years migrated between two municipalities in 2004, and the tendency was similar in more recent statistics (Forgaard 2005;Statistics Norway 2013a). As the relocations happen all year long while the number of inhabitants was counted only once a year, this could lead to slight over- or under- estimations of the municipalities' population size. As 1 % of the population aged > 70 years represent slightly more than 2000 inhabitants out of more than 700 000 persons in the material (0,3 %), this will have a small influence on the rates in the analyses. Further we have no reason to believe that the over- and under estimations of population size was systematically related to neither the main explanatory nor the outcome variables in the three studies. Since explanatory and outcome variables use the same population denominator, any misclassification would not distort the relationship between the two within municipalities. Thus this source of misclassification was judged to be non-systematic and its influence of minor importance.

Quality of registry data (Hospital Episode Statistics data)

The outcome data in all papers were delivered from the NPR, which receives national data on all hospital activity, delivered primarily for financial reimbursement purposes. Hence, their accuracy for research use can be discussed. Probably, this indicates that the activity data should be almost complete. However, it can also lead to strategic coding, where the hospitals of varying degrees maximise the activity, i.e. the number of hospital days in paper 1. For paper 1 we used 5-year data from NPR, and in addition calculated a 5-year mean of hospital activity by which we reduced the effect of any outliers. The NPR have documented how they control the activity data by checking the completeness of coding in most variables (Norwegian Ministry of Health and Care services 2007).

The data for the private outpatient consultations in paper 2 were produced by the NPR and included 91.8% of the specialists' consultations. The private specialists had roughly 30% of the total OPC consultations. If we assume that private specialists who did not deliver data have had the same number of consultations compared with private specialists who did deliver data, the missing data represent about 3% of the total OPC-consultations. Again, we have no

reason to believe that such a misclassification was systematic related to GP-utilization rates. This indicated a slight influence on the total data.

The data about LTC for the years 2002–6 (paper 1) was provided by Statistics Norway. These data were primarily collected by the municipality administration for local administrative reasons, not research. No data on individual LTC-users was available. These data were checked for consistency with the previous years' data for the same municipality. We do not know of any documentation that streamlines registration procedures between municipalities. In 2007, the old data-collection routines on LTC-use were changed by law to individual LTC-user level registration by LTC-personnel. The data for 2007 and 2008 therefore had several quality issues (personal communication Statistics Norway). In 2009 these problems were overcome, so the LTC-data for 2009 (paper 3) were assumed to be of sufficiently quality for research.

5.1.3 **Confounding**

The formal requirements for inclusion as confounders in the analyses were met by several variables. In paper 1 we discussed in detail the fact that we utilized mortality as a proxy for morbidity. Other studies related to SHC utilization vary with regard to adjustment for morbidity. Studies with aggregated data have indirectly adjusted for morbidity, e.g. a US study adjusted for morbidity by using mortality as a proxy (Kravet et al. 2008) and a British study (Gulliford 2002) adjusted for the proportion of the population with the variable 'limiting long-term illness'. Studies with available individual data adjusted for morbidity by utilizing individual administrative data in respect of diagnostic codes (Forrest and Starfield 1996;Mark et al. 1996). There will probably be residual confounding by morbidity, because none of our proxy variables for morbidity (mortality, age and sex) covers morbidity completely. These issues are discussed in paper 1 and 2. The ideal study should have compared groups of patients with the same morbidity experience, who had high and low LTC and GP utilization rates respectively. The impact of better morbidity data on the analysed relationship between care levels is an important research question for further research. Furthermore, in most countries, as well as in Norway, differences in health status are shown at the municipality or county level.

Another confounder was travel time to hospital. We grouped the variable differently in papers 1 and 2 versus paper 3. In paper 1 we found a crude negative association between LTC and HD rates. Including travel time as a confounder turned the association into a moderately

33

positive one, illustrating that low HD rates and high LTC rates in rural districts distorted the crude results. In paper 2 travel time was also a confounder, but did not change the crude, significantly positive association in three strata. However, the non-significant association for the oldest patients with highest mortality, who were close to a hospital, turned into a non-significant negative association when adjusting for travel time. In paper 3, the odds of UMAs decreased by increasing travel time to hospital. Education was a significant confounder in paper 1, but not in the other papers.

5.1.4 Effect modification

Our criteria for defining a variable as an effect modifier might seem strict. Using a less strict definition we would be able to identify a high number of interacting variables, and possibly understand differences in the population better. However, a less strict definition of the criteria would indicate an increased risk of identifying random variation as an interaction. We believed that, if interactions were not evident in visual representations, they were not convincing interactions, but more likely represented random variations. Furthermore, a softer definition of interactions would require a stratification of the material into more and smaller groups, which again would make interpretation difficult Even though we had a relatively strict definition of the interaction in paper 2, we still had to the stratify into five strata. For instance, the smallest stratum 'age 85+, medium and large municipalities, highest mortality' which included only 0.65% of the total study population. The results for this group were possibly an artefact of the small numbers involved in each GP quintile within the group. It illustrated that a softer threshold for effect modification could result in interpretation challenges.

5.1.5 Analytical models

In papers 1 and 2 we studied the relationship between a main exposure variable and a primary endpoint. Therefore, the models were developed carefully around the association between the two variables of interest. All interactions and relevant confounders known to affect health-care use, were reviewed with respect to the main association studied.

5.1.6 External validity

In addition to assessing the validity of the results for the studied population, I will discuss the ability to generalize to other populations. This thesis covers the entire population aged >66 years in paper 1 and >64 years in papers 2 and 3, and is thus not influenced by a random

selection process, which is a major strength of our study. This indicates a high ability to generalize to Norwegians in this age group. As discussed above random error may still occur in the form of measurement error. Acceptance of these measurements as valid and sufficiently reliable means that we have presented the best possible estimates for the associations between PHC and SHC utilization, in the elderly population, for the studied time periods. As part of preparing the dataset for paper 1, we examined whether the ranking of utilization measures in both primary and secondary care changed significantly over time. The annual PHC and specialist utilization measure correlation across years was >0.9 for all possible year-on-year combinations, within the same age, sex and municipality groups. Therefore, although use did increase in the period, the ranking did not change. Thus we concluded that time was not an interactive factor and we did not need to split the material by time period. Paper 1 included a 5-year dataset, and papers 2 and 3 only 1-year datasets. This could decrease their representative nature for longer time periods.

Different countries have their own sociocultural, political, economic and organizational history in which the health-care system has developed (Kringos et al. 2010). Also, as the health systems are open systems, and their interlinked components interact with the local and national context (Atun 2004), one can argue that differences in health-care systems and history might exclude generalization of the findings for other countries. However, we think that the conclusions are probably reliable for elderly populations in other Scandinavian and northern European countries that have health-care system with universal coverage and fair access to GPs, who are gate-keepers to secondary care.

6 General discussion – results

The principal finding was that a higher utilization of PHC was associated with a moderate increased utilization of SHC. However, in paper 3, high LTC seemed to lower the risk for a UMA in the oldest age groups.

In Norway, the National Health Plan has introduced legislation mandating that municipalities create emergency beds in their own or in cooperating neighbouring municipalities before 2016 (Norwegian Ministry of Health and Care services 2011). Although promising alternatives to hospitalizations in the municipalities, or in units in cooperation with the hospitals, have been demonstrated (Garasen et al. 2007;Lappegard and Hjortdahl 2012), a recent report showed that the cottage hospital beds in the municipalities in the county of Finnmark have more of a complementary than a substitution effect on hospital utilization (Heiberg 2012). However, the question of adequate adjustment for differences in morbidity was an issue in this report also.

6.1 Primary Health Care

In papers 1 and 2 we argued for global measures of LTC and GP utilization respectively. This complicates comparison of our findings with other studies in the field, because fewer studies utilize LTC and GP utilization in the same manner.

To define the necessary medical treatment or level of care among elderly people is challenging, because their diffuse symptomatology is dominated more by functional deficit than illness presentation. Both LTC and GP utilisation, the coordination and communication between GPs and LTC nurses or specialists, or all, and finally the supply of hospital services are all factors that might influence hospital use. Regular follow-up in PHC tailored to patients' individual needs might prevent hospital use if unrecognized needs can be handled in primary care, and such handling prevent or postpones need for specialist services. But, if these uncovered needs necessitate hospital services, the effect might be higher hospital use. A Canadian, 1-year, randomized controlled trial did not show an effect of a broad home-based primary care intervention on hospital admissions or emergency room use (Ploeg et al. 2010). A review of studies on the effect of nursing homes on hospitalizations showed inconsistent results, with various study designs and classifications, and the studies had not included important adjustment variables (Grabowski et al. 2008). This might indicate that good PHC quality measures have been difficult to define.

A recent Norwegian study found, by using quantile regression, that higher numbers of municipality home care and nursing home receivers per 1000 inhabitants aged >80 years moderately reduce length of stay (LOS) for patients with the longest stays, especially for elderly people aged >67, in the four largest cities in Norway (Holmaas et al. 2012). The study was limited to the 16 most frequent diagnoses, utilized individual patient record data and adjusted for case-mix including the number of comorbidities. We found that adjusting for travel time turned a negative crude association into an adjusted positive association in paper 1, and in paper 3 reduced the propensity for a UMA. However, this Norwegian study did not adjust for travel time. The outcome, LOS, was different from the outcomes that we examined in this thesis. They did not report what correlations existed between the explanatory variables nor did they describe if they checked for effect modification. However, the moderately negative relationship found in home care with emergency admissions points in the same direction as our findings in paper 3, where higher LTC-rate among the oldest individuals was associated with a lower propensity for emergency hospitalization. To conclude, the small differences between these studies can stem from different outcomes, aggregation levels and adjustments. The identified association between LTC and lower hospital use could be causal, indicating a possible substitution effect of LTC among the oldest old. But, the association could also to some degree be a marker of age, indicating that among the oldest old the need for acute treatment or hospital treatment can be regarded as less even in the face of serious disease, and/ or proper care for people near the age of dying is LTC. A Finnish study supported the latter (Murphy and Martikainen 2013).

General practitioners are the cornerstone of municipality PHC services. In paper 2 we demonstrated that a high total GP consultation rate in 5-year age and sex groups was related to increased utilisation rate of the outpatient specialist services, whereas the municipality GP utilisation did not seem to influence the individual likelihood for an unplanned medical hospitalization, shown in paper 3.

One British study showed that a higher supply of GPs was associated with a decrease in hospital admission rates for acute and chronic conditions. However, the GP supply was considerably lower than in Norway, with a mean of 1724 patients per GP (range 1408–2325)

37

(Gulliford 2002), whereas in 2009 the mean number of patients per GP in Norway was 1185 (Gaardsrud 2012), indicating a higher access to GPs compared to Britain. A Norwegian study based on data from a representative telephone survey sample (n = 6465) indicated that increased volume of GPs did not reduce referrals to SHC (Godager et al. 2012). Although this study included people aged ≥18 years, with overrepresentation of middle-aged women, the findings were in line with our findings in paper 2.

The decision to refer is a result of complex assessments with many interrelated variables. Patient morbidity was reported to be most important in a British multilevel study (Sullivan et al. 2005). A recent Norwegian study demonstrated that doctors' gender and experience influence the decision to refer (Ringberg et al. 2013), which was largely consistent with an American patient study demonstrating that a physician's propensity to refer is highly influenced by his or her training, experience and practice setting (O'Neill and Kuder 2005). However, in a pseudo-multilevel study (Rossdale et al. 2007) the practice level did not influence hospitalization rates, in accordance with the results in paper 3.

Previous research on the linkage between proxy measures of GP-utilization and secondary care utilization did not differentiate between components of Primary Health Care physicians' work (Starfield et al. 2005; Kravet et al. 2008). As our study sought to examine these relationships at a system level in a Norwegian setting, we originally wished to include all GPconsultations into our exposure measure. Hence, our GP data in papers 2 & 3 consist of all GP consultations inside municipality PHC.

Although we had distinct components of GP-work in current datasets, we had no information on the content, time spent and quality of the GP consultations in the different municipalities during daytime and at the Casualty Clinics (CC) respectively. As shown in a sentinel survey from 2007, 66 % of consultations at the CC for the elderly above 70 years were classified as "regular" GP-work, with no acute characteristics, and 5 % was classified as "red response" (Hansen et al. 2009). This indicated that the degree of emergency in CC-consultations was not as different from day-time work as might have been expected. This underpinned our choice of lumping all types of GP-consultations together.

However, there are components of GP work which might have independent impact on OPCrates. For instance it is possible that the continuity in the patient – GP relationship is better taken care of at daytime than at the Casualty Clinics. A recent Norwegian study indicated that longitudinality with a GP at daytime (>2 years) was associated with a lower probability for OPC utilization, while high GP consultation rate was associated with a large increase in probability for OPC visit. In paper 2 we did had information on total frequency, but not on longitudinality. We neither did know how many patients at the CC who had consultations with their "list doctor".

As we failed to reproduce the findings of previous studies on GP-capacity and measures of secondary care, it becomes an interesting question whether the separate components of GP-care may have other and independent relationships with OPC-rates. However, this is a research question which has grown out of our current work, and is a fundamentally different question than the one we originally put to ourselves. Hopefully, the data needed to answer these questions will be available.

From the start we wanted to study each part of PHC services separately. When starting with paper 3 we acknowledged that the GP-, LTC- and SHC utilisation were all linked to oneanother, and that GP and LTC-service could be seen as one unit of first line entity. In this light both GP-rates and LTC-rates were relevant confounders when examining the link between PHC and secondary care. With hindsight it is possible that we should have included both services for the analyses in the two first papers as well.

6.2 Practice and/or geographical variation

Our results indicated that PHC utilization rates either had no association or were weakly associated with more hospital use. An American study showed that physicians in highspending areas tended to follow their patients up and recommended other services more often, indicating a local ecology of care (Sirovich et al. 2008). This finding was in line with recent studies on small-area variations from Dartmouth Institute (Fisher et al. 2003b) However, the recent Dartmouth studies were questioned because they divided the USA into 306 heterogeneous hospital referral regions (HRRs) with between 150,000 and 10.5 million inhabitants (Cooper 2010). In a study of the less aggregated hospital service areas (HSAs) (n = 3436), a substantial heterogeneity of utilization of medical services inside the HRRs was revealed among the Medicare population aged \geq 65 years (Zhang et al. 2012). The author asked whether the geographical variation was too inconsistent even in the HSAs and suggests studying variations in even smaller areas.

Our work studied smaller geographical areas than these studies. In papers 1 and 2 we used municipal 5-year age and sex groups as the lowest analytical unit. We included a mix of age-

39

and sex-specific variables and municipal-level variables in our analyses. To account for the correlation within the municipalities for age- and sex-specific variables, we also adjusted analyses for municipality as a random effect factor. These analyses did not allow distinction between variation attributable to the age- and sex-specific variables and that attributable to municipal-level variables. In paper 3 we carried out a multilevel analysis, in which the unexplained variation was formally divided between individual and system level factors. In this paper, most of the unexplained variability was found to be at the individual level, whereas some minor variance could be ascribed to variation between municipalities and hospital regions. These findings were consistent with a US study in which most of the geographical variation between counties diminished when individual characteristics, including health status, were taken into account (Reschovsky et al. 2011). A Swedish mixed-model study reports similar results (Merlo et al. 2005).

Interestingly, when the Dartmouth Atlas studies were repeated by the US Institute of Medicine with broader risk and price adjustment, variations were reduced but still existed, and the ranking between geographical areas changed (Newhouse and Garber 2013). In line with Zhang they found that the variation between areas with regard to costs and quality of care was incongruent, probably indicating that some of the variation relates to the behaviour of hospitals and individual physicians. Hence, they propose that further investigations on variation have to look beyond geography and into practice variations at a less aggregated level.

Last, but not least, the statistics methods used to discriminate real variations from variations by chance influence the interpretation of the SAV findings. A Spanish study validating different measures of geographical variations demonstrated that a mixed-model applying empirical Bayesian statistics was better than other more traditional methods for defining variation, because to a much lesser degree it was dependent on procedure rate and the underlying variability (Ibanez et al. 2009).

6.3 Travel time to hospital

We found in all studies that the distance to hospital was inversely related to hospital use. In Norway about 10% of the population live with a travel time to hospital of more than 1 hour. In paper 1, the distance to hospital was the most important confounder, which in fact turned the negative crude association between LTC and HD rate into a positive association. In paper 2, distance did not influence the association between the outcome and the main explanatory variable. However, in both paper 1 and paper 2 the hospital utilization rate was significantly lower in the most distant municipalities. In paper 3, the odds for UMAs were 13% lower for individuals living in municipalities with travel time to hospital of >60 minutes compared with those with travel time <20 minutes. In summary, this indicates that travel time had an influence on the use of SHC, but did not consistently influence the associations between PHC and SHC utilization.

6.4 Composite variable "Municipality population size and Hospital status"

Although the composite variable 'Municipality population size and hospital status' was a confounder in paper 1, it was an effect modifier in paper 2. We found in all papers that hospital utilization was higher in municipalities hosting a hospital. In paper 1 HD rates in hospital municipalities were higher than in all other municipality types; in paper 2 the OPC rates were highest for people aged 65–84 years in large hospital municipalities. This is in line with one Norwegian study reporting higher hospital use in municipalities with a hospital (Fylkesnes 1993). However, the study did not test for effect modifiers or adjust for possible confounders. In paper 3 we found in bivariate analysis that municipalities with a hospital had higher UMA rates than municipalities without (174/1000 versus 160/1000). However, in the full multivariate model there was no difference. This suggests that not having a hospital in the municipality indicate lower hospital use, but the lower use did not seem to be explained by higher GP- or LTC rates in the non-hospital municipalities.

6.5 Age and mortality

The influence of age and interactions with age has not been reported by others because ageand sex-standardized rates have been used in most studies. In paper 1 we stratified by both age and sex, whereas in paper 2 we found interaction only by age, indicating different associations between PHC and hospital use for the oldest individuals. In paper 3, due to the different methodology, we defined the age groups based on earlier findings. In all the papers we found relatively little impact of the adjustment for mortality as a proxy for morbidity. In paper 3, use of the municipality level of disability pension as a proxy for morbidity did not influence the results. When adjusted for mortality in paper 1, increasing LTC seemed to reduce HD levels among the oldest populations. Similarly, in paper 3 high LTC volume in the municipality corresponded with lower individual propensity to be admitted as a UMA for the oldest individuals (80+), whereas for the younger age groups we found the opposite tendency. In paper 2 age had an influence only for the tiny group of oldest individuals with the highest mortality, which we questioned as a possible artefact. In summary, our proxies for morbidity had a minor influence on the associations in all papers. As we found only relatively small effect sizes, one might discuss whether the adjustment for morbidity was insufficient or whether morbidity was in fact not an important confounder because the differences in mortality at municipality level were moderate, and had random fluctuations from year to year. However, in papers 1 and 2 we used 5-year and 3-year mortality means to reduce the impact of year-to-year variation.

6.6 Socioeconomic status

Socioeconomic inequalities in health status increased with age in the UK where people of lower SES were found to have a faster decline in physical health (Chandola et al. 2007). The Norwegian government decided, in 2008, that the criteria for funding the hospital regions should also include SES within the area (Carlsen 2006b;Ministry of Health and Care services 2008). A small Norwegian population survey study indicated that the proportion of people who use PHC and specialist services increases with improved SES, with the exception of the subgroup of men aged 67+ with coronary heart disease, among whom those with low income made the greatest use of GPs (Jensen 2009). While one Norwegian study indicated that more affluent patients made less use of GPs and were more often referred to SHC (Hansen et al. 2012) another population study found no SES gradient in use of the GPs or inpatient care, but demonstrated that affluent people (measured by educational level and income) had higher utilization of hospital and private out-patient specialist services (Vikum et al. 2013). An interesting study utilizing the 2201 GP lists (all lists of Norwegian GPs with specialty in family medicine) showed that the lowest quintile SES level list had a 13% higher consultation rate than the highest quintile (Hetlevik and Gjesdal 2012). Altogether, these survey studies indicated that higher educational level was associated with higher outpatient use. In paper 2 we demonstrated that educational information in 5-years age and sex groups did not fulfil the criteria to be included as a confounder indicating that educational level did not influence the association between GP-rates and use of out-patient clinic in our aggregated analyses. Whether this would hold true if we had individual data is open for discussion. In this thesis, age group or municipality-specific SES, employment, income and education had little influence on the studied associations. Educational level was a significant confounder in paper 1, but inclusion of education in the final model did not change the sign of the

association, indicating a small effect (data not shown in the paper). However, it can be questioned whether SES data at individual level and/ or GP lists level together with municipality specific level would have altered the picture if the data had been available.

7 Future perspectives

Demographic forecasts indicate that a growing proportion of elderly people might threaten the sustainability of future health-care budgets. However, these assumptions are still controversial. We found that 15% of the elderly population receive LTC, which corresponds roughly to the findings in the UK (Bardsley et al. 2012), the USA (Spillman 2004) and Canada (Worrall and Knight 2004). Far more people aged >65 provide informal care than receive formal care (Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development 2011). Hence, elderly people are a heterogeneous group where many people are healthy and independent in old age.

Second, elderly people in the future may live longer with fewer disabilities than previously, and their impact on future hospital utilization might be less than that assumed (Breyer et al. 2010;Christensen et al. 2009). However, reduced hospital need among elderly people might be compensated for by an increased need for LTC for the very oldest individuals (Murphy & Martikainen 2013).

Third, a belief that most health needs of elderly people can be met in municipality PHC can lead to suboptimal elderly health care (Aaraas 2012;McCloskey and van den Hoonaard 2007), if elderly people's needs are not clarified by a comprehensive geriatric assessment at admission (Samaras et al. 2010). Especially at a stage of life when terminal palliation in a local setting is best practice, emergency admissions should be avoided. Although a small Norwegian study indicated that local palliative competence could have substituted for some admissions, these admissions represented a very small proportion (0.2%) of the total admission volume (von Hofacker S. et al. 2010;Wyller 2010), in line with the proportion found in a recent Canadian study (Jensen et al. 2009).

It is well recognized that the prevalence of multi-morbidity, defined as having two or more long-term conditions, increases with age (Barnett et al. 2012;Starfield 2010). Even if this increase might partly result from a lower diagnostic threshold in a specialized, diseaseoriented, health-care system, rather than from factual growth (Starfield 2011), patient multimorbidity and disabilities complicate treatment pathways of chronically ill elderly people. A Commonwealth study from 11 countries including Norway demonstrated poor coordination of care for patients with complex needs, who also experienced more medical errors (Schoen et al. 2011). A report of GP activity in 22 European countries in 2009–10 evaluated efficiency in structure and process related outcomes (Pelone et al. 2013). It demonstrated a low score for Norwegian GPs' cooperation with specialists (Kringos et al. 2013a). Hence, content of and cooperation between services within and between care levels, which is challenging in Norway for several reasons, might have more impact on SHC- utilisation than increased PHC volume. However, if GPs are foreseen as having a more coordinating and team-leading role within and between today's two care levels, this might reduce their consultation capacity to such an extent that it will require more GPs in the municipalities than the government has planned recently (Norwegian Directorate of health 2013).

It is argued that the strong economic focus of the Coordination reform hampers the development of integrated care, especially for multi-morbid patients, and instead reinforces power games between two separate financial and administrative bodies at organizational, hospital and practitioner levels (Romoren et al. 2011). Also, the contrast between a single disease-based perspective dominant in a state-owned and -run specialist health service and the often patient-centred care perspective in a fragmented and decentralized, municipality, generalist PHC can lead to suboptimal patient pathways and care (Rosstad et al. 2013). Most list doctors are organized into group practices with an electronic patient record (EPR) system, which has gradually been connected to the specialist sector through the Norwegian Health Network. As shown in a Commonwealth Fund study and highlighted in several government reports, there is a need for enhanced, technologically integrated, health-care information exchange and integration (Holmboe O et al. 2009;Norwegian Ministry of Health and Care services 2012a). This must include improving communication means across GP, LTC and hospital services. To improve cooperation and integration of care, better understanding of the different cultures and better interprofessional attitudes are needed and should be a focus of future education and training of health personnel and administrators. But, as demonstrated in a 4-year project from Australia, this is a difficult task (Braithwaite et al. 2013).

45

8 Suggestions for further research

In spite of our findings, we cannot exclude important effect of PHC for hospital use. Further research has to concentrate more deeply on the role of LTC in acute cases and the role of GPs, look more into patient trajectories and finally evaluate the content and quality of the It has been argued that it is a paradox that the major health-care reforms such as the CR can be implemented based on political and economic assumptions more than on scientific evidence, whereas the introduction of a new drug demands several clinical trials, even if the impact on patients' morbidity and mortality of health service changes might be greater (Hillman 1998). At least, for the CR, an on-going evaluation is planned – mainly at the organizational level, with attention to the administrative changes and the economic endpoints (Norwegian Ministry of Health and Care services 2012b). It will be important to observe whether the legislated introduction of municipality emergency beds will influence the rates of hospital emergency admissions and readmissions. This must be followed closely in the years to come (Norwegian Ministry of Health and Care services 2011). The evaluation requires individual data on utilization of all LTC services including use of the acute beds. Also the role of informal care and individual data on SES and marital status among elderly people should be included.

Multilevel studies with individual and system level data, and other statistical methods like empirical Bayesian Statistics have to be considered for future studies.

8.1 GP data

It will be essential to include data from PHC use and terminal care activities in future studies on variations of health-care utilization, quality and costs. In Norway almost all GPs and have had EPRs for many years. This unique and huge data source includes reasons for encounters, diagnoses, prescriptions, sick leave, laboratory tests and referrals. Given appropriate safeguards, these data can be utilized to investigate population disease prevalence and variation, and patient management, and to study variations – also between countries (Kroneman et al. 2010;Simpson et al. 2010;Westert et al. 2006). Simultaneously, the GPs can extract and analyse their own practice data as part of local quality improvement. Better adjustment for morbidity and multi-morbidity is important to enhance the quality of the research. There are several challenges to capturing morbidity data from patient registries. The use of discharge diagnoses without including information at admission might lead to misclassifications and erroneous conclusions about inappropriate admissions (Pronovost and Lilford 2011;Raven et al. 2013). Furthermore, even if the discharge diagnostic coding practice accuracy seems to improve (Burns et al. 2012), it might be influenced by financial interests (Lægreid and Neby 2012) and vary as a result of organizational factors (Santos et al. 2008). Hence, other approaches to better identify morbidity are of interest. The prevalence of disease, especially chronic disease, is generally higher in self-reporting than in GPs' patient journals, which should be a good indicator of disease prevalence because about 80% of the population visit their GP annually (Westert, Jaabaaij, & Schellevis 2006). One British study demonstrates a high predictive value for utilization of GPs via the number of prescribed drugs compared with other morbidity measures (Brilleman and Salisbury 2013). Another British study showed that the number of chronic diseases was equivalent to the Charlson index for predicting 1-year mortality, and had a better explanation for variation between GP practices in a multilevel study (Carey et al. 2013).

8.2 Patient trajectories

Given better data for morbidity and data from primary care, it is relevant to study patient trajectories of chronically ill elderly patients for better understanding of the dynamics between the services both within PHC and between different levels of care. These studies might also include quality-of-care aspects and outcomes of care. In a recent publication from Manitoba, different patient trajectories were compared by different quality-of-care measures in respect of both process (vaccination, prescription consultations) and outcome (stroke, myocardial infarction, amputation) (Katz et al. 2013). Possibly, measures for health-related quality of life (HRQoL) –and 'activities of daily living' (ADL) can be beneficial for such studies. A recent publication from Norway showed that elderly people who were hospitalized had better health 1 year after, when assessed as the ability to cope with everyday activities (Helvik et al. 2013).

Not to forget, patient trajectories inside hospitals must be focused on, because hospital organizational changes can have a huge influence on patient quality-of-care outcomes and long-term costs, as demonstrated in a 10-year Spanish study (Corbella 2013).

8.3 Coordination and cooperation

A clinically integrated, one-level, health-care delivery system such as Kaiser Permanente (KP) in the USA has fewer doctors, fewer inpatient bed days, and better preventive and integrated

chronic care compared with Danish health care, but higher spending (Frolich et al. 2011). A recent European study indicated that, although there were favourable effects on population health and hospital use, the overall health-care spending was higher in countries with a strong PHC, demonstrating that future studies must take into account the total health-care costs (Kringos et al. 2013b). It has been a matter of debate whether the Norwegian health care's 'two-level' finance system is an important cause of problems with fragmentation, power games, coordination and cooperation, especially for chronically ill (and often multi-morbid) patients. The time is ripe to study whether the positive experiences from systems like the insurance-based KP in respect of one care level, integrated and preventive care, are transferable into a Scandinavian universal health-care setting. In a research project where, for example, one to three hospitals and their associated municipalities' PHC are financially, organizationally and clinically integrated in the same health delivery organization, one could examine effects of a large whole-system change in the Norwegian setting. Whether medical care in such a system will give better and more patient- centred care must be examined with a broad and multidisciplinary research focus. Important factors to study are implementation, system and care integration, interprofessional cultures and attitudes, patient outcomes and satisfaction, and finally total health-care utilization and spending.

9 Conclusions of the thesis

In a universal health-care system with well-functioning primary health care, increased PHC utilization alone does not seem to reduce the pressure on the hospital services. Further research should focus on the content of services and cooperation within and between service levels.

References

Aaraas, I. 2012, [Health care for the elderly. Report from Expert Group appointed by Ministry of Health and Care Services in November 2010], Norwegian Department of Health and Care.

Aaraas, I., Forde, O.H., Kristiansen, I.S., & Melbye, H. 1998. Do general practitioner hospitals reduce the utilisation of general hospital beds? Evidence from Finnmark county in north Norway. *J.Epidemiol.Community Health*, 52, (4) 243-246.

Anderson, G.F. & Hussey, P.S. 2000. Population aging: a comparison among industrialized countries. *Health Affairs*, 19, (3) 191-203.

Ashton, C.M., Petersen, N.J., Souchek, J., Menke, T.J., Yu, H.J., Pietz, K., Eigenbrodt, M.L., Barbour, G., Kizer, K.W., & Wray, N.P. 1999. Geographic Variations in Utilization Rates in Veterans Affairs Hospitals and Clinics. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 340, (1) 32-39.

Atkinson, A.B., Marlier, E., & Nolan, B. 2004. Indicators and Targets for Social Inclusion in the European Union. *JCMS: Journal of Common Market Studies*, 42, (1) 47-75.

Atun, R. 2004, What are the advantages and disadvantages of restructuring a health care system to be more focused on primary care services?, WHO Regional Office for Europe.

Australian Institute of Health and Welfare 2008, *Australia's health 2008, the eleventh biennial health report.*

Bardsley, M., Georghiou, T., Chassin, L., Lewis, G., Steventon, A., & Dixon, J. 2012. Overlap of hospital use and social care in older people in England. *J.Health Serv.Res.Policy*, 17, (3) 133-139.

Barnett, K., Mercer, S.W., Norbury, M., Watt, G., Wyke, S., & Guthrie, B. 2012. Epidemiology of multimorbidity and implications for health care, research, and medical education: a cross-sectional study. *Lancet*, 380, (9836) 37-43.

Bhopal, R. 2008a. "What is epidemiology? the nature and scope of a biological, social and ecological science and of epidemilogical variables and outcomes," In Concepts of epidemiology: An integrated introduction to the ideas, theories, principles and methods of epidemiology, 2. ed. Oxford: Oxford University Press, pp. 1-18.

Bhopal, R. 2008b. "Error, bias, confounding and riskmodification/interaction in epidemiology," *In Concepts of epidemilogy. Integrating the ideas, theories, principles and methods of epidemiology.*, 2 ed. Oxford: Oxford University Press, pp. 83-121.

Bliksvær, T. & Olsen, T. 2003, [Evaluation of the Project for "Resource Municipalities" and Program for General Practice Development and Research in Northern Norway] Nordlandsforskning NF, 1015/2003.

Braithwaite, J., Westbrook, M., Nugus, P., Greenfield, D., Travaglia, J., Runciman, W., Foxwell, A.R., Boyce, R.A., Devinney, T., & Westbrook, J. 2013. Continuing differences between health professions' attitudes: the saga of accomplishing systems-wide interprofessionalism. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care*, 25, (1) 8-15.

Breyer, F., Costa-Font, J., & Felder, S. 2010. Ageing, health, and health care. *Oxford Review of Economic Policy*, 26, (4) 674-690.

Brilleman, S.L. & Salisbury, C. 2013. Comparing measures of multimorbidity to predict outcomes in primary care: a cross sectional study. *Fam Pract*, 30, (2) 172-178.

Broemeling, A.M., Watson, D.E., Prebtani, F.. Population Patterns of Chronic Health Conditions, Co-morbidity and Healthcare Use in Canada: Implications for Policy and Practice. *Healthcare Quarterly*, 11, (3) 70-76.

Bronnum-Hansen, H., Juel, K., & Davidsen, M. 2006. The Burden of Selected Diseases Among Older People in Denmark. *Journal of Aging and Health*, 18, (4) 491-506.

Burns, E.M., Rigby, E., Mamidanna, R., Bottle, A., Aylin, P., Ziprin, P., & Faiz, O.D. 2012. Systematic review of discharge coding accuracy. *Journal of Public Health*, 34, (1) 138-148.

Carey, I.M., Shah, S.M., Harris, T., Dewilde, S., & Cook, D.G. 2013. A new simple primary care morbidity score predicted mortality and better explains between practice variations than the Charlson index. *J.Clin.Epidemiol.*, 66, (4) 436-444.

Carlsen, B. 2006a. *The changing role of gatekeepers: Rationing and shared decision-making in primary care.* University of Bergen.

Carlsen, F. 2006b. Betydningen av sosiale ulikheter for overføringene til helseregionene. [Norsk Økonomisk tidsskrift], 120, (1) 1-24.

Chan, B.T. 2003. Patient, physician, and community factors affecting referrals to specialists in Ontario, Canada: a population-based, multi-level modelling approach. *Medical care*, 41, (4) 500-511.

Chandola, T., Ferrie, J., Sacker, A., & Marmot, M. 2007. Social inequalities in self reported health in early old age: follow-up of prospective cohort study. *BMJ*, 334, (7601) 990.

Charlson, M.E., Pompei, P., Ales, K.L., & MacKenzie, C.R. 1987. A new method of classifying prognostic comorbidity in longitudinal studies: development and validation. *J.Chronic.Dis.*, 40, (5) 373-383.

Christensen, K., Doblhammer, G., Rau, R., & Vaupel, J.W. 2009. Ageing populations: the challenges ahead. *The Lancet*, 374, (9696) 1196-1208.

Cooper, R.A. 2010. Health care reform: from myth to practice. Ann.Surg., 252, (4) 577-581.

Corbella, X. 2013. Alternatives to conventional hospitalization for improving lack of access to inpatient beds: a 12-year cross-sectional analysis. *Journal of Hospital Administration*, 2, (2).

Dalstra, J.A.A., Kunst, A.E., Borrell, C., Breeze, E., Cambois, E., Costa, G.J., Geurts, J.J.M., Lahelma, E., Van Oyen, H., Rasmussen, N., Regidor, E., Spadea, T., & Mackenbach, J.P. 2005. Socio-economic differences in the prevalence of common chronic diseases: an overview of eight European countries. *Int J Epidemiol*, 34, 316-326.

Davis, P., Gribben, B., Lay-Yee, R., & Scott, A. 2002. How much variation in clinical activity is there between general practitioners? A multi-level analysis of decision-making in primary care. *J Health Serv.Res Policy*, 7, (4) 202-208.

Demissie, K., Hanley, J.A., Menzies, D., Joseph, L., & Ernst, P. 2000. Agreement in measuring socio-economic status: area-based versus individual measures. *Chronic.Dis.Can.*, 21, (1) 1-7.

Dominiquez-Berjon, M.F., Borell, C., & Pastor, V. 2004. [Small area-based socioeconomic indicators in the study of inequalities of health]. *Gac Sanit*, 18, (2) 92-100.

Dormont, B., Grignon, M., & Huber, H. 2006. Health expenditure growth:reassessing the treat of ageing. *Health Economics*, 15, (9) 947-963.

Duffy, R., Neville, R., & Staines, H. 2002. Variance in practice emergency medical admission rates: can it be explained? *Br.J.Gen.Pract.*, 52, (474) 14-17.

Elixhauser, A., Steiner, C., Harris, D.R., & Coffey, R.M. 1998. Comorbidity measures for use with administrative data. *Med.Care*, 36, (1) 8-27.

Elstad, J. I. 2008, [Education and health inequalities], Norwegian Directorate of Health.

Enes, A. W. 2010, [Economy and living standards for various low-income groups], Statistics Norway.

Fisher, E.S. 2000. Associations among hospital capacity, utilization, and mortality of US Medicare beneficiaries, controlling for sociodemographic factors. *Health Services Research*, 34, (6) 1351-1362.

Fisher, E.S. 2003a. Health care quality, geographic variations, and the challenge of supplysensitive care. *Perspectives in biology and medicine.*, 46, (1) 69-79.

Fisher, E.S., Wennberg, D.E., Stukel, T.A., Gottlieb, D.J., Lucas, F.L., & Pinder, E.L. 2003b. The Implications of Regional Variations in Medicare Spending. Part 2: Health Outcomes and Satisfaction with Care. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 138, (4) 288-298.

Folland, S. 1990. Small area variations: a critical review of propositions, methods, and evidence. *Medical care review*, 47, (4) 419-465.

Forgaard, T.S. 2005. [The most moving within their own municipality]. *Samfunnsspeilet* (5) 29-38.

Forrest, C.B. & Starfield, B. 1996. The effect of first-contact care with primary care clinicians on ambulatory health care expenditures. *J.Fam.Pract.*, 43, (1) 40-48.

Franks, P., Mooney, C., & Sorbero, M. 2000. Physician referral rates: style without much substance? *Med Care*, 38, (8) 836-846.

Frolich, A., Diderichsen, F., Graetz, I., Hsu, J., Krasnik, A., Reed, M., Schiotz, M.L., Strandberg-Larsen, M., & Søgaard, J. 2011. *What can the Danish health care system learn from Kaiser Permanente? A comparison between the American insurance organization Kaiser Permanente and the Danish healthcare.* Syddansk Universitetsforlag. Fylkesnes, K. 1993a. Determinants of health care utilization--visits and referrals. *Scand.J.Soc.Med.*, 21, (1) 40-50.

Gaardsrud, P. Ø. 2012, *Styringsdata for fastlegeordningen*, *4. kvartal 2011*, Norwegian Directorate of Health.

Garasen, H., Windspoll, R., & Johnsen, R. 2007. Intermediate care at a community hospital as an alternative to prolonged general hospital care for elderly patients: a randomised controlled trial. *BMC.Public Health*, 7, 68.

Gittelsohn, A. & Powe, N.R. 1995. Small area variations in health care delivery in Maryland. *Health Serv Res*, 30, (2) 295-317.

Godager, G., Iversen, T., & Ma, C. A. 2012, *Competition, Gatekeeping, and Health Care Access*, Department of Health Management and Health Economics & HERO, University of Oslo, 2012:2.

Goodman, D.C. 1997. The distance to community medical care and the likelihood of hospitalization: is closer always better? *American journal of public health*, 87, (7) 1144-1150.

Grabowski, D.C., Stewart, K.A., Broderick, S.M., & Coots, L.A. 2008. Predictors of nursing home hospitalization: a review of the literature. *Med.Care Res.Rev.*, 65, (1) 3-39.

Green, L.A. 1994. Physician decision making and variation in hospital admission rates for suspected acute cardiac ischemia. A tale of two towns. *Medical care*, 32, (11) 1086-1097.

Gulliford, M.C. 2002. Availability of primary care doctors and population health in England: is there an association? *Journal of Public Health*, 24, (4) 252-254.

Hansen, A.H., Halvorsen, P.A., Ringberg, U., & Forde, O.H. 2012. Socio-economic inequalities in health care utilisation in Norway: a population based cross-sectional survey. *BMC.Health Serv.Res.*, 12, 336.

Hansen AH, Halvorsen PA, Aaraas I, Førde OH. 2013. Continuity of GP care is related to reduced specialist healthcare use: a cross-sectional survey. *British Journal of General Practice*, Volume 63, pp e482-e489(8).

Hansen AH, Halvorsen PA, Aaraas IJ, Førde OH. 2013. Continuity of GP care is related to reduced specialist healthcare use: a cross-sectional survey. *Br J Gen Pract.* Jul;63(612):482-9.

Hansen, E.H., Zakariassen, E., & Hunskaar, S. 2009. Sentinel monitoring of activity of out-of-hours services in Norway in 2007: an observational study. *BMC.Health Serv.Res.*, 9, 123.

Hansen, FH. e. a. 2005, [Desentalization of specialist health care services in the Northern Norway Regional Health Authority]. Helse Nord.

Hart, J.T. 1971. The inverse care law. Lancet, 1, (7696) 405-412.

Hasvold, T. & Johnsen, R. 1996, [*The Patient List System Pilot. Evaluation report.*], Department of Community Medicine, University of Tromsø.

Health Services Research Group 1992. Small-area variations: what are they and what do they mean? *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, 146, (4) 467-470.

Heiberg, I. 2012, [Use of cottage hospitals and hospitals clinics in municipalities with cottage hospital beds in Finnmark].

Helvik, A.S., Engedal, K., & Selbaek, G. 2013. Perceived health among the medically hospitalized elderly: A one-year follow-up study. *Scandinavian Journal of Public Health*, 41, (4) 421-428.

Hetlevik, O. & Gjesdal, S. 2012. Does socioeconomic status of list populations affect GP practice? A register-based study of 2201 Norwegian GPs. *Eur.J.Gen.Pract.*, 18, (4) 212-218.

Hillman, K.M. 1998. Restructuring hospital services. Med.J.Aust., 169, (5) 239.

Hjortdahl, P. & Borchgrevink, C.F. 1991. Continuity of care: influence of general practitioners' knowledge about their patients on use of resources in consultations. *BMJ*, 303, (6811) 1181-1184.

Hofer, T.P., Wolfe, R.A., Tedeschi, P.J., McMahon, L.F., & Griffith, J.R. 1998. Use of community versus individual socioeconomic data in predicting variation in hospital use. *Health Serv.Res.*, 33, (2 Pt 1) 243-259.

Holmaas, T.H., Islam, M.K., & Kjerstad, E. 2012. Interdependency between social care and hospital care: the case of hospital length of stay. *The European journal of public health*. doi: 10.1093/eurpub/cks171.

Holmboe O, Bjertnæs ØA, Bukholm G, Nguyen K, Helgeland J, & Røttingen JA 2009, [Commonwealth Fund survey in 2009 among general practitioners: Results of a comparative study in 11 countries], The Norwegian Knowledge Centre for the Health Services (NOKC), 24/1009.

Hubert, H.B., Bloch, D.A., Oehlert, J.W., & Fries, J.F. 2002. Lifestyle Habits and Compression of Morbidity. *Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 57, (6) M347-M351.

Huisman, M., Kunst, A.E., Bopp, M., Borgan, J.K., Borrell, C., Costa, G., Deboosere, P., Gadeyne, S., Glickman, M., Marinacci, C., Minder, C., Regidor, E., Valkonen, T., & Mackenbach, J.P. 2005. Educational inequalities in cause-specific mortality in middle-aged and older men and women in eight western European populations. *Lancet*, 365, (9458) 493-500.

Huseby, B. & Kalseth, B. 2001, [Living conditions, availability to and utilization of hospital service among Norwegian municipalities], SAMDATA (SINTEF Helse).

Ibanez, B., Librero, J., Bernal-Delgado, E., Peiro, S., Lopez-Valcarcel, B., Martinez, N., & Aizpuru, F. 2009. Is there much variation in variation? Revisiting statistics of small area variation in health services research. *BMC Health Services Research*, 9, (1) 60.

Iversen, T. & Kopperud, G.S. 2002. [Use of specialist health care by the population]. *Tidsskr.Nor Laegeforen.*, 122, (22) 2199-2203.

Iversen, T. & Kopperud, G.S. 2005. Regulation versus practice - the impact of accessibility on the use of specialist health care in Norway. *Health Econ.*, 14, (12) 1231-1238.

Iversen, T. & Luras, H. 2000. The effect of capitation on GPs' referral decisions. *Health Econ.*, 9, (3) 199-210.

Jensen, A. 2009, [Social Inequalities in Health Care Use- An analysis of data from Statistics Norway living conditions survey on health care and social contact], Statistics Norway, Oslo, 2009/6.

Jensen, P.M., Fraser, F., Shankardass, K., Epstein, R., & Khera, J. 2009. Are long-term care residents referred appropriately to hospital emergency departments? *Can.Fam.Physician*, 55, (5) 500-505.

Jorgensen, T. 2006, [New definitions of education levels], Statistics Norway.

Juel, K. & Christensen, K. 2007. Are men seeking medical advice too late? Contacts to general practitioners and hospital admissions in Denmark 2005. *Journal of Public Health* 30 (1): 111-113.

Katz, A., Martens, P., Koseva, I., McDougall, C., & Boriskewich, E. 2013, *Understanding the Health System Use Of Ambulatory Care Patients*, Manitoba Center for Health Policy, 1.

Kopperud, G. S. 2002, [Calculation of availability index at municipal level], University of Oslo, Oslo, 2002:14.

Kraut, A., Mustard, C., Walld, R., & Tate, R. 2000. Unemployment and health care utilization. *Scand J Work Environ Health*, 26, 169-177.

Kravet, S.J., Shore, A.D., Miller, R., Green, G.B., Kolodner, K., & Wright, S.M. 2008. Health care utilization and the proportion of primary care physicians. *Am.J.Med.*, 121, (2) 142-148.

Kringos, D., Boerma, W., Hutchinson, A., van der Zee, J., & Groenewegen, P. 2010. The breadth of primary care: a systematic literature review of its core dimensions. *BMC Health Services Research*, 10, (1) 65.

Kringos, D.S., Boerma, W.G., Bourgueil, Y., & et al 2013a. *Building Primary Care in a changing Europe.*, In Press, personal communication ed. World Health Organization 2009, on behalf of the European Observatory on Health Systems and Policies.

Kringos, D.S., Boerma, W., van der Zee, J., & Groenewegen, P. 2013b. Europe's Strong Primary Care Systems Are Linked To Better Population Health But Also To Higher Health Spending. *Health Affairs*, 32, (4) 686-694.

Krokstad, S., Kunst, A.E., & Westin, S. 2002. Trends in health inequalities by educational level in a Norwegian total population study. *J.Epidemiol.Community Health*, 56, (5) 375-380.

Kroneman, M., Verheij, R., Tacken, M., & van der Zee, J. 2010. Urban-rural health differences: primary care data and self reported data render different results. *Health Place*, 16, (5) 893-902.

Lagoe, R., Arnold, K.A., & Littau, S. 1999. Analyzing hospital Admission Rates at the Community Level. *Journal of Nursing Quality Assurance*, 14(1), (Special issue no, 1) 25-39.

Lappegard, Ø. & Hjortdahl, P. 2012. Acute admissions to a community hospital: Experiences from Hallingdal sjukestugu. *Scandinavian Journal of Public Health*, 40, (4) 309-315.

Lægreid, P. & Neby, S. 2012, *Gaming the system and accountability relations: Negative side-effects of activity-based funding in the Norwegian hospital system*, Stein Rokkan Center for Social Studies, Uni Research as, Bergen, 9/12.

Mabeck, C.E. & Kragstrup, J. 1993. Is variation a quality in general practice? *Scand.J.Prim.Health Care Suppl*, 1, 32-35.

Mackenbach, J.P. 1997. Socioeconomic inequalities in morbidity and mortality in western Europe. The EU Working Group on Socioeconomic Inequalities in Health. *The Lancet*, 349, (9066) 1655-1659.

Manton, K.G. 1991. Cross-sectional estimates of active life expectancy for the U.S. elderly and oldest-old populations. *Journal of gerontology*, 46, (3) -82.

Mark, D.H., Gottlieb, M.S., Zellner, B.B., Chetty, V.K., & Midtling, J.E. 1996. Medicare costs in urban areas and the supply of primary care physicians. *J.Fam.Pract.*, 43, (1) 33-39.

Mays, N. 1987. Measuring morbidity for resource allocation. *Br.Med.J.(Clin.Res.Ed)*, 295, (6600) 703-706.

McCloskey, R. & van den Hoonaard, D. 2007. Nursing home residents in emergency departments: a Foucauldian analysis. *J.Adv.Nurs.*, 59, (2) 186-194.

McMahon, L.F. 1993. Socioeconomic influence on small area hospital utilization. *Medical care*, 31, (5 Suppl) YS29-YS36.

McPherson, K. 1982. Small-area variations in the use of common surgical procedures: an international comparison of New England, England, and Norway. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 307, (21) 1310-1314.

Merlo, J., Hakansson, A., Beckman, A., Lindblad, U., Lindstrom, M., Gerdtham, U.G., & Rastam, L. 2005. [Equally good care of myocardial infarction in Sweden today. Geographic differences in mortality are without significance for the individual patient]. *Lakartidningen*, 102, (1-2) 20-23.

Ministry of Health and Care services 2008, *NOU 2008:2.* [Distribution of income between Regional Health Authorities].

Murphy, M. & Martikainen, P. 2013. Use of hospital and long-term institutional care services in relation to proximity to death among older people in Finland. *Social Science & Medicine*, 88, (July) 39-47.

Mæland, J.G., Elstad, J.I., Næss, Ø., Westin, S., & et al 2009. [Social epidemiology], 1 ed. Oslo, Gyldendahl.

Nerland, S.M. & Hagen, T. 2008. Access to speciality health care in Norway: Did the Hospital reform of 2002 lead to improved equality of access. *Tidskrift for samfunnsforskning*, 49, (1) 37-71.

Newhouse, J.P. & Garber, A.M. 2013. Geographic Variation in Medicare Services. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 368, (16) 1465-1468.

Nord, E. 1988. Sosiale variasjoner i sykehusbruk. [Helsetjenesten] (3-88) 4-6.

Norwegian Directorate of Health. Recruitment of GPs. http://www.helsedirektoratet.no/tilskudd/Sider/rekruttering-av-fastleger.aspx . 2013.

Norwegian Labour and Welfare Administration 2007, [What goes on in general practice? Consultation statistics for 2006] 4/07.

Norwegian Ministry of Health 2003, *NOU 2003:1*, *[Needs-based funding of the specialist health care]*.

Norwegian Ministry of Health and Care services 2007, [*Activity data for somatic hospitals 2006*], Norwegian Ministry of Health and Care services.

Norwegian Ministry of Health and Care services 2008a, NOU 2008:2:. [Distribution of income between Regional Health Authorities] NOU 2008:2.

Norwegian Ministry of Health and Care services 2009, [The Coordination Reform: Proper treatment - at the right place and right time].

Norwegian Ministry of Health and Care services, [National health and care plan (2011-2015)]. 2011. 24-4-2013.

Norwegian Ministry of Health and Care services 2012a, [One citizen - one journal. Digital services in the health care sector].

Norwegian Ministry of Health and Care services 2012b, [Research and Innovation for better Cooperation. The strategy of the Department of Specialist Health Care Services for research on cooperation 2012-2015.].

Norwegian Research Council 2006, [Evaluation of the Regular General Practitioner (RGP) Scheme 2001-2005. Summary and Analysis of evaluation subprojects].

O'Neill, L. & Kuder, J. 2005. Explaining Variation in Physician Practice Patterns and Their Propensities to Recommend Services. *Medical Care Research and Review*, 62, (3) 339-357.

Olshansky, S.J., Passaro, D.J., Hershow, R.C., Layden, J., Carnes, B.A., Brody, J., Hayflick, L., Butler, R.N., Allison, D.B., & Ludwig, D.S. 2005. A Potential Decline in Life Expectancy in the United States in the 21st Century. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 352, (11) 1138-1145.

Olshansky, S.J., Rudberg, M.A., Carnes, B.A., Cassel, C.K., & Brody, J.A. 1991. Trading Off Longer Life for Worsening Health: The Expansion of Morbidity Hypothesis. *Journal of Aging and Health*, 3, (2) 194-216.

Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development 2011, *Health reform, meeting the Challenge of aging and multiple morbidities.*

Pelone, F., Kringos, D.S., Spreeuwenberg, P., De Belvis, A.G., & Groenewegen, P.P. 2013. How to achieve optimal organization of primary care service delivery at system level: lessons from Europe. *Int J Qual.Health Care.* doi: 10.1093/intqhc/mzt020

Ploeg, J., Brazil, K., Hutchison, B., Kaczorowski, J., Dalby, DM., Goldsmith, CH., & Furlong, W. 2010. Effect of preventive primary care outreach on health related quality of life among older adults at risk of functional decline: randomised controlled trial. *BMJ*, 340:c1480.

Porell, F. 1999. Geographic variations in hospital discharge rates and discretionary hospital use. *J.Health Serv.Res.Policy*, 4, (3) 147-153.

Pronovost, P.J. & Lilford, R. 2011. Analysis & commentary: A road map for improving the performance of performance measures. *Health Aff.(Millwood.)*, 30, (4) 569-573.

Raven, M.C., Lowe, R.A., Maselli, J., & Hsia, R.Y. 2013. Comparison of presenting complaint vs discharge diagnosis for identifying " nonemergency" emergency department visits. *JAMA: The Journal of the American Medical Association*, 309, (11) 1145-1153.

Reid, F.D.A., Cook, D.G., & Majeed, A. 1999. Explaining variation in hospital admission rates between general practices: cross sectional study. *BMJ*, 319, (7202) 98-103.

Reschovsky, J.D., Hadley, J., Saiontz-Martinez, C.B., & Boukus, E.R. 2011. Following the money: factors associated with the cost of treating high-cost Medicare beneficiaries. *Health Serv Res*, 46, (4) 997-1021.

Restuccia, J., Shwartz, M., Ash, A., & Payne, S. 1996. High hospital admission rates and inappropriate care. Health Affairs, 15, (4) 156-163.

Ringberg, U., Fleten, N., Deraas, T.S., Hasvold, T., & Forde, O.H. 2013. High referral rates to secondary care by general practitioners in Norway are associated with GPs' gender and specialist qualifications in family medicine, a study of 4350 consultations. *BMC Health Services Research*, 13, (147).

Rognerud, M.A. & Zahl, P.H. 2006. Social inequalities in mortality: changes in the relative importance of income, education and household size over a 27-year period. *Eur J Public Health*, 16, (1) 62-68.

Rohrer, J.E. 1993. Small area analysis: descriptive epidemiology in health services research. *Clinical performance and quality health care*, 1, (1) 35-42.

Romoren, T.I., Torjesen, D.O., & Landmark, B. 2011. Promoting coordination in Norwegian health care. *Int.J.Integr.Care*, 11, (Spec 10th Anniversary Ed) e127.

Roos, N.P. 1992. Hospitalization style of physicians in Manitoba: the disturbing lack of logic in medical practice. *Health Services Research*, 27, (3) 361-384.

Rossdale, M., Kemple, T., Payne, S., Calnan, M., & Greenwood, R. 2007. An observational study of variation in GPs' out-of-hours emergency referrals. *Br.J.Gen.Pract.*, 57, (535) 152-154.

Rosstad, T., Garasen, H., Steinsbekk, A., Sletvold, O., & Grimsmo, A. 2013. Development of a patient-centred care pathway across healthcare providers: a qualitative study. *BMC.Health Serv.Res.*, 13, 121.

Samaras, N., Chevalley, T., Samaras, D., & Gold, G. 2010. Older patients in the emergency department: a review. *Ann.Emerg.Med.*, 56, (3) 261-269.

Santos, S., Murphy, G., Baxter, K., & Robinson, K.M. 2008. Organisational factors affecting the quality of hospital clinical coding. *Health Information Management Journal*, 37, (1) 25-37.

Schoen, C., Osborn, R., Squires, D., Doty, M., Pierson, R., & Applebaum, S. 2011. New 2011 Survey Of Patients With Complex Care Needs In Eleven Countries Finds That Care Is Often Poorly Coordinated. *Health Aff.*, 30 (12) 2437-2448.

Schulz, E. 2005, *Alternative scenarios for health, life expectancy and social expenditure,* European Network of Economic Policy Research Institutes (ENEPRI).

Shain, M. & Roemer, M.I. 1959. Hospital costs relate to the supply of beds. *Mod.Hosp.*, 92, (4) 71-73.

Shwartz, M. 2005. Do variations in disease prevalence limit the usefulness of populationbased hospitalization rates for studying variations in hospital admissions? *Medical care*, 43, (1) 4-11.

Simpson, C.R., Hippisley-Cox, J., & Sheikh, A. 2010. Trends in the epidemiology of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in England: a national study of 51 804 patients. *Br.J.Gen.Pract.*, 60, (576) 277-284.

Sirovich, B., Gallagher, P.M., Wennberg, D.E., & Fisher, E.S. 2008. Discretionary decision making by primary care physicians and the cost of U.S. Health care. *Health Aff.(Millwood.)*, 27, (3) 813-823.

Soobader, M., LeClere, F.B., Hadden, W., & Maury, B. 2001. Using aggregate geographic data to proxy individual socioeconomic status: does size matter? *American journal of public health*, 91, (4) 632-636.

Spillman, B.C. 2004. Changes in elderly disability rates and the implications for health care utilization and cost. *Milbank Q.*, 82, (1) 157-194.

Starfield, B., Weiner, J., Mumford, L., & Steinwachs, D. 1991. Ambulatory care groups: a categorisation of diagnoses for research and management. *Health Serv Res*, 26, 53-74.

Starfield, B., Shi, L., & Macinko, J. 2005. Contribution of Primary Care to Health Systems and Health. Milbank Quarterly, 83, (3) 457-502

Starfield, B. 2010. Primary care, specialist care, and chronic care: can they interlock? *Chest*, 137, (1) 8-10.

Starfield, B. 2011. Challenges to primary care from co- and multi-morbidity. *Primary Health Care Research & Development*, 12, (01) 1-2.

Statistics Norway 2006. Labour Force Survey.

Statistics Norway 2013a. Internal migrations, 2011.

Statistics Norway 2013b. Table: 07459: Population by sex and 1-year age (by Municipality).

Sullivan, C.O., Omar, R.Z., Ambler, G., & Majeed, A. 2005. Case-mix and variation in specialist referrals in general practice. *Br J Gen Pract*, 55, (516) 529-533.

Suominen-Taipale, A.L., Koskinen, S., Martelin, T., Holmen, J., & Johnsen, R. 2004. Differences in older adults' use of primary and specialist care services in two Nordic countries. *The European journal of public health*, 14, (4) 375-380.

Thomsen, O., Barner-Rasmussen, P. 1992. [Utilization of hospitals and general practitioners-is there a connection?]. *Ugeskr.Laeger*, 154, (14) 906-910.

Van Doorslaer, E., Masseria, C., & Koolman, X. 2006. Inequalities in access to medical care by income in developed countries. *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, 174, 177-183.

Veugelers, P.J. 2003. Geographic variation in health services use in Nova Scotia. *Chronic diseases in Canada*, 24, (4) 116-123.

Vikum, E., Bjørngaard, J.H., Westin, S., & Krokstad, S. 2013. Socio-economic inequalities in Norwegian health care utilization over 3 decades: the HUNT Study. *The European journal of public health. doi:10.1093/eurpub/ckt053*.

von Hofacker S., Naalsund, P., Iversen, G.S., & Rosland, J.H. 2010. [Emergency admissions from nursing homes to hospital at the end of life]. *Tidsskr.Nor Laegeforen.*, 130, (17) 1721-1724.

Walker, A., Pearse, J., Thurecht, L., & Harding, A. 2006. Hospital admissions by socioeconomic status: does the 'inverse care law' apply to older Australians? *Aust.N Z.J Public Health*, 30, (5) 467-473.

Walker, A.E. & Becker, N.G. 2005. Health inequalities across socio-economic groups: comparing geographic-area-based and individual-based indicators. *Public Health*, 119, (12) 1097-1104.

Wanless, D. 2006, Securing Good Care for Older People Taking a long-term view, King's Fund.

Weissert, W.G., Cready, C.M., & Pawelak, J.E. 1988. The past and future of home- and community-based long-term care. *Milbank Q.*, 66, (2) 309-388.

Wennberg, J. & Gittelsohn 1973. Small area variations in health care delivery. *Science*, 182, (117) 1102-1108.

Wennberg, J.E. 1977. A test of consumer contribution to small area variations in health care delivery. *The journal of the Maine Medical Association*, 68, (8) 275-279.

Wennberg, JE., Fisher, ES., & Skinner, JS. Geography And The Debate Over Medicare Reform. Health Affairs , W96-W114. 13-2-2002.

Wennberg, J.E., Blowers, L., Parker, R., & Gittelsohn, A.M. 1977. Changes in Tonsillectomy Rates Associated With Feedback and Review. *Pediatrics*, 59, (6) 821-826.

Wennberg, J.E. 2002. Unwarranted variations in healthcare delivery: implications for academic medical centres. *BMJ*, 325:961.

Westert, G.P., Jaabaaij, L., & Schellevis, F.G. 2006. *morbidity, performance and quality of primary care-Dutch Primary Care on Stage*, 1 ed. Radcliffe.

Wilkin, D. & Smith, A. 1987. Explaining variation in general practitioner referrals to hospital. *Fam Pract*, 4, (3) 160-169.

Worrall, G. & Knight, J. 2004. Our elderly population feels well. They are in control and not burdening their caregivers. *Can.Fam.Physician*, 50, 1662-1663.

Wyller, T.B. 2010. [Too many or too few admissions?]. *Tidsskr.Nor Laegeforen.*, 130, (17) 1702.

Zhang, Y., Baik, S.H., Fendrick, A.M., & Baicker, K. 2012. Comparing local and regional variation in health care spending. *N.Engl.J.Med.*, 367, (18) 1724-1731.

PAPER I



Trygve S Deraas, Gro R Berntsen, Toralf Hasvold and Olav H Førde Does long-term care use within primary health care reduce hospital use among older people in Norway? A national five-year population-based observational study. *BMC Health Services Research 2011, 11:287* PubMed: PMID: 22029775

PAPER II



Trygve S Deraas, Gro R Berntsen, Toralf Hasvold, Unni Ringberg and Olav H Førde Is a high level of general practitioner consultations associated with low outpatients specialist clinic use? A cross-sectional study. *BMJ Open* 2013;3:e002041.

PubMed: PMID: 23315519

PAPER III



Trygve S. Deraas, Gro R. Berntsen, Andy P. Jones, Olav H. Førde, Erik R. Sund. Associations between Primary Health Care and Unplanned Medical Admissions in Norway. A multilevel analysis of the entire elderly population.

Health & Place (Under review)





ISBN xxx-xx-xxxx-xxx-x